
the Caehar is were formerly more numerous, but that many villages were 
deserted in consequence of the raids of the Angami Nagas. The 
Mikirs are the remnants* of a tribe that has for the most 
part migrated northward to the plains of Nowgong and the isolated 
group of hills between the Jumoona and Berhampooter. The
Aroong Nagas are an inoffensive tribe, probably an offshoot from 
the Kuteha Nagas who have settled down to peaceful habits.

• They were great sufferers from the
K  rise Rookies. Angami raids. The Kookies are all

immigrants from the south, and formerly inhabited the hills south 
of Caehar, from which they were driven by the advance northward 
of a more powerful people from the unexplored country between British 
territory and Burma. They are a hardworking, self-reliant, race, and 
the Only hillmen in this quarter who can hold their own against the 
Angamis. The ‘ old Kookies' came north according to -their own 
account about 85 years ago. They were made use of by Rajah Goviml 
(founder of Caehar in his feud with Tularam Senaputty (1828-29).

P  liaiid followed band from, time to time belonging to different tribes and
speaking different dialects. In 1846-47 especially a large immigration 
took place, the leaders of which informed our officers that they had left 
their own lulls to avoid the oppressions of Manipur and the attacks 
of Lush a is. In the year 1851-52, another great band, numbering about
8,000, moved north.

The old Kookies were reported in 1858 to be in four elans, viz., Khe- 
lema, Ranthai, Bete, and Lamkron. The new Kookies (of 1851-52) were 
of three tribes—Jangseen, Tadoi, and Shingshooii. Each clan or tribe was 
under a regular gradation of chiefs generally elected. It was this organi­
zation mainly that rendered them superior to the Nagas. They were ready 
at once to avenge an inroad, and, using bows and arrows instead of spears, 
were much inspected even by the Angamis, Before the establish­
ment of the Naga Hills District, proposals were frequently made to 
utilise these Kookies as a buffer or screen between our more timid 
subject** and the Angamis. In 1856-57 lands were assigned rent-free 
for 10 and afterwards for 25 years to any Kookies who Would settle to 
the east of North Caehar beyond the Laugting River. Fire-arms and 
ammunition were given them by Government. In 1859 about 600 
Kookies had accepted free settlement on these.termsand in 1860 the 
colony contained 1,356 inhabitants in seven villages. These villages the 
A ngamis avoided, and to some extent the country in the rear of the 
Kookie Settlements was free from incursions. But it would have 
taken scores of such settlements effectually to cover such a broken 
frontier. In 1867 the number of the Langtiug colonists had risen to 
1,967, and 500 new immigrants had come from Manipur. To these 
last arms were not supplied. The establishment of the Naga Hills

■* Probably Mills' number* are more rorrect for the Mikir population than Allen’s. 
There is i .o doubt that the bulk of the Mikir.- are in “ the Meekir Hills”.

1 4 0  THE NOiETH-BAST FEODITIER OP BENGAL.



the N0RTH*KAJ5r FRONTIER OF BENGAL. 147
.............  .............................. ——--------------------------------------------- 5'

-------  , ,
District has deprived this colonising scheme for the present ok much ol
its political interest.!1)

The tract now known as North Cachar is made up of (1) the hills
w hich  have a lw ays been  u nder 

Present composition of North Cachar. j llrisd iction  . (o) t h a t  part of

the Assaloo Sub-division made over to Cachar in 1S67 on the formation of 
the Naga Hills District; and (8) a tract of low undulating hills made 
over from the Naga Hills in 187b. The tribes pay a light house-tax 
and are content and peaceful. In 1875 the population was returned at 
7,588 Nagas, 10,824 Cacharis, 15,080 Kookies, and 4,385 Mikirs. In
1880 a Kookie militia 100 strong was raised as a protection against 
Atigarni raids, and a European officer was again stationed in the hills to 
more effectively control 'the different tribes. In 1881-82 a rising 
took place, which in the words of the Annual Report, “ seemed con­
temptible in its origin, but was lamentable in its conclusion/"’

The mainspring of the revolt was a Cachari named Sambhudan,
who first set up as a worker of 

Sambhudan’s Insurrection, 1881-88. lnjv.aoulous cures, and presently went
on to claim divino inspiration, and took the title of a god, a “ deo.
Among the credulous population of the hills followers were soon attract­
ed to him; the afflatus of his inspiration extended to them, and they 
too became “ deos,” though Sambhudan was still the principal god.
He took up his abode at Maibong, the ancient capital of the Cacharis, 
and lived at free quarters on the forced contributions of his neighbours.
At length a man brought a complaint against him in the Sub-Divisional 
Officer’s court, having been beaten by him and his followers for resisting 
the expropriation of a buffalo. I t  was found that the dread of Sambhudan 
was so great 1 hat no one could be induced to serve a summons on him.
The Sub-Divisional Officer then called in the Deputy Commissioner,
Major Boyd, who went to his assistance with a force of some 30 police.
On' the way, some huts erected for a camping place were found burnt 
down by Sambhudan’s party, but no other impediment awaited the 
District Officer on his road to Guujong, the present head-quarters of 
North Cachar. Maibong is some six or eight, hours’ march from

(‘) The principal authorities for North Caohar are,-—Pemberton’s, Mills,’ ami Allen’s 
Reports; and the following ;—

Secret Proceedings, 14th August 1829, No. 5.
Political Proceedings, 14th May 1832, No. ‘JO.
Political Proceedings, 29th October 1832, Nos. 132 and 133.
Political Proceedings, 3rd December 1332, Nos. 103 and 104.
Political Proceedings, 31st duly 1834, No. 22.
Political Proceedings, 30th May 1833, No. 100.
Political Proceedings, 11th February 1836, Nos 82 and 83.
Political Proceedings, 16th October 1834, Nos. 62 to 51.
G. O., No. 4411, dated 14th October 1853.
Political Proceedings, 19th October 1844, Nos. 132 to 134.
Revenue Proceedings, 5tb April 1848, Nos. 19 and 20.
Revenue Proceedings, 17th November 1859, Nos. 8 and 4 
Revenue Proceedings, 3rd May I860, Nos. 9 and 10.
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unjong. On the 15th January, Major Boyd, accompanied by one 
uropean Officer and some 25 police, marched to Mai bong and found 
deserted, except for three or four men who ran away on his approach, 
id two women. Sambhndan and his party, supposed to be about 

20 men, had countermarched him on the same day, and about noon fell 
upon Gunjong, where only a weak police guard had been left, which 
became panic-stricken, and fled without firing a shot. The “ deoa” burnt 
down all the houses at Gunjong, aud killed two servants and a sick 
policeman, but left precipitately, neither plundering the small amount 
of treasure that was left there, nor carrying off the police rifles or 
ammunition. Though Maibong was so near to Gunjong, the police 
were too disorganised to send any news of the disaster to Major Boyd, 
who, with his party, passed the night in the houses of the “ deos,” 
unaware of what had occurred. Soon after dawn on the morning of 
the I f'th they were awakened by the shouts and drums of Sambhudan 
and his followers, who had marched straight back from Gunjong and 
passed the night in the jungle. In the skirmish which followed,

!  several of the insurgents were killed, and Major Boyd received a wound
in the hand which ultimately brought on tetanus and caused his death,

Sambndhan, the leader of this insane and murderous revolt, had 
not been arrested at the close of the year. The language of the 
hill Cacharis is hardly known to any one, and they area race famed for 
clannishness and for (heir readiness to support, each other. Hence our 
police are practically helpless when following up offenders whom the 
people desire to screen.

In the Chief Commissioner’s opinion no people came worse out of 
T , ....... this affair than the so-called Kookie

Militia. They gave no information 
beforehand of the probability of a Caehari rising, and they were found of 
no use after it in hunting down the fugitives or collecting evidence against 
them. They were the first to run away at Gunjong, and the only Kookie 
sentry there was at Maibong also ran away. 'They were accordingly 
disbanded by the orders of the Chief Commissioner. Badly, however, as 
the Kookios seem to have behaved in this instance, there can he no doubt 
that they have done admirable service as hill-porters on dangerous 
expeditions, and they are the only tribe able to defend themselves against 
the Angamis who have, as numerous reports show, a real respect for 
them. Under proper organization I can see no reason why they should 
not still be utilised for defensive purposes.

| i  l  ' , j 11
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CHAPTER XVI.

Although, as stated above uVt Chapter IT, it formed no art of my ;
f c  , r . . } il;m to describe the relations df"ab .• iM s

***** for tt0tlt5,ag MaaipUP- British Government •* omepend- ^
ent States lying outside its border, i has bee in l^ytssted to me that 1 
should include in this work some notice of Manipur, which, though if
independent, is at the same time a protected State, and which has played 
and continues to play a prominent part in the politics of the North-East 
Frontier. 1 have already in the Chapter on the Angami Nagis shown 
how constantly Manipur had to bo taken into account by our Assam, 
officials in dealing with those tribes. When we come to treat of the 
1 riuthai tribes, South of Oaohar, we shall find that there also the •action 
of Manipur is an important factor which has frequently to he recognised.
On her eastern border Manipur, by rash dealing with the neighbouring 
tribes, may at any moment compromise the British Government with 
Independent Burma. In order, therefore, to make the history of the 
North-East Frontier complete, J have been furnished by the courtesy _ of 
the Foreign Office with various official documents and precis from which 
the following paragraphs have boon reproduced :—*

Manipur is a little territory lying on our North-East Frontier 
„ ... „ „  . between Caehar and Burma. The
Posmoa of Manipur, population is about 75,000, and the

aggregate money revenue is about Rs. 21,000 per annum, in addition 
to si considerable amount of land revenue, which is paid in kind. The 
country consists of a Central valley surrounded by bills, spreading over ®
an area of about 7,000 square • miles. The region is rich, hut un­
developed. Iron and gold have been found, and tea grows in wild 
profusion. Above all, the Manipur Valley forms the great highway 
between the British Provinces of Assam and Caehar on the one side, 
and the Kubo Valley, which now belongs to Burma, on the other.

Tho early history of Manipur was barbarous in the extreme. It
was not only marked by constant ■ §

l audition of Manipur and tho surround- raids of the Mauipuris into Burma, 
mg, hill tribe*. and of Burmese into Manipur, M

hut by internal’wars of the most savage and revolting type, in which 
sons murdered fathers and brothers murdered brothers, without a 
single trait of heroism to relieve the dark scene of blood and treachery.
Meantime, not only is slavery an institution, but the so-called free

* A full account of Manipur by Colonel McCulloch, who was for many years Poltt icu;
Agent there, was printed in 1S39 as a volatile of Government of India ltecord Selections.

The account given of recent Modi purl politics la this Chapter is in length out of 
all proportion! to its importance • bu< ! have not boon iblo to tiud unit; to condense the 
very volumki- us precis of the Foreign Office.
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inhabitants are compelled, under a system termed "  Laloop,” to render 
ten days’ service to the Rajah out of every forty, without auv, 
remuneration. The hill tribes, consisting of numerous Nag-a and. KvCiokie 
clans, also live in frequent feud,.

In early times occasional communications ''passed between the 
Rise of our political relations with British Government and the Mani- 

Manipur: formation of the Manipur pugw State, but our present relations 
'Levy* may be said to have originated in the

first Burma' T  *, Manipur Riad been devastated by the Burmese, 
and its ruling fanutyhndU Hed to Cachar. In 18211 the British Govern­
ment opened communications with Gumbheer Sing, one of the members 
of the Manipur family; upon which 500 Manipuris under his 
command were taken into the pay of the British Government, and 
co-operated with the British troops in driving the .Burmese out of 
Cachar. In 1825 this force was increased to 2,000 men, and placed a
under the command of Captain Grant ; it was denominated the 
Manipur Levy, and was paid, accoutred, and supplied with 
ammunition by the British Government. Subsequently by the A va

t  Treaty of 1826, Gumbheer Sing was recognised as the Rajah of 
Manipur, though without any corresponding obligation so far as the 
British Government was concerned. The language of the Treaty was 
as follows:—"With regard to Manipur, it is stipulated that, should 
“ Gumbheer Sing desire to return to that country, he shall be reeog- 
“ nixed by the King of Ava, as Rajah thereof.” Shortly afterwards 
the British Government discontinued the payment of the Manipur 
Levy, but still furnished ammunition for the reduction of refractory 
lull tribes; and further supplied 3,000 muskets and sets of accoutre­
ments, on the condition that the Rajah should raise the Manipur 
Le\ y to the same number. The condition of affairs may be, perhaps, 
best understood from the following- extract from a Minute by Lord 
M illiam Ben thick dated the 25th March 1883 :—

Previous to the late war with Ava we possessed no knowledge of the Passes connect­
ing Manipur with our Territories: Of its resources wo were equally ignorant, and 
the panic occasioned by the siinoitaneous appearance of two divisions of the Burmese 
Army, one from Manipur and the other from Assam, led to a very general flight of the 
inhabitants of Cachar and those occupying the northern and eastern borders of our 
District of Sylhet. Under such an emergency it was natural that evory resource, how­
ever trifling, should be sought after, and the re-establishment of the Manipur dynasty 
seems to have been a scheme peculiarly favoured by our late Agent, Mr. Scott, as afford­
ing, in his estimation, a well-founded prospect of defence of our frontier in that direct.oil 
by the interposition of a race of people known to entertain a rooted antipathy to the only 
enemy against whose aggressions it was necessary to guard, and of the fertility of whoso *. 
country highly-coloured descriptions had been given.

'Whether the policy of identifying our interests with those of this potty State.— 
separated from our Territories by an extremely difficult tract of country, and from those, 
of Ava by one of great comparative facility,—has ever been made a question I have not 
learned ; the advantages, however, to us of a, connection with Manipur appear to mo 
very problematical, and this is the Consideration to w hich I would now more particularly 
direct attention.

The result of our late enquiries have clearly shown that, after an uninterrupt :«i 
tranquillity of seven years, this small State is still considered as totally incompetent to 
defend itself against a Burmese invasion. Its entire population is supposed not to 
amount to more than 30 or 40,000 souls and its available revenue to ■ or 5,U00 rupees

* i§„ ■ |
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a vfur. Its rituation-snm ittnded by mountains—eirohtded it  from an y ' .great partici- • >.,
lotion in the advantages of traffic, and the whole tenor of the several ooimmumcatious 
made to Government by the Officers most intimately acquainted with the couuitry prows 
that at this moment it "is without the mentis of efficiently extending its agriculture.

The Levy, consisting, as wo are told, of 3,000 men, is shown to be but very impel - ■f,Vvi',i l,1
fectly disciplined and very little under the control of the Officers specially appointed for 
the purpose of ensuring its efficiency. And although wo may fairly assume that, armed 
as they now are, thev would be a match for an equal number of Burmese, we could 
hardiy'piaoe any great reliance upon their undisciplined efforts when opposed to the 
vastly superior force, which, in the event of war, would inevitably be brought against 

lb ' theiii. _
If. therefore, lu r connection with this dependent State is to he continued, 1 should 

prefer p. i ring in it a small garrison of our own troops to retaining so largo a portion of 
its scantv pojiulation for military duties; and we can hardly doubt that the locluig oi 

V. .. H uirity  to  the inhabitants of 'Manipur generally would be greatly increased by the 
permanent residence amongst them of soe.lt a body. Considering the system, thou, »hu.h 
is now in operation as radically defective, I  am unwilling to sanction any measures likely 
to load to its permanency.

It was under the circumstances reviewed in the foregoing Minute
that two Treaties were concluded 

Treaties of 1833 cud 1331: death of v, jtU the Manipur State, namely,
Gumbheer Sing, 13-tl. one  of 188S and o n e  o f  1 834 . B y  iff

the Treaty of 1883 the British Government agreed to give to the Rajah 
of Manipur the line of the Jeeree River and the western bend of the 
Barak as a boundary; the Rajah, in return, agreeing to the following 
conditions, which are still in force, and are, therefore, extracted here 
from Aitehison’s Treaties, Volume 1, page 123 :—

l»r.—The Rajah will, agreeably to instructions, without delay, remove his Tlianna 
from Clinndrapore, and; establish it on the eastern bank of the Jcoree.

2nd.—-The Rajah will in no way obstruct tho trade carried on between the two 
countries by Bengali or Mantpuri merchants ; ho will not exact heavy duties, and 
ho will make a monopoly of uo articles of merchandise whatsoever.

Srd —The Rajah will in no way prevent the Nagas, inhabiting the Knlanaga and 
Noon-ini Ranges of Mills, from selling or bartering ginger, cotton, popper, and every other 
article, the produce of their country, in the plains of Caoliar, at tho Bansnandoo and 
■Oodharbuu bazaars, us has been their custom.

.\!h._W ith regard (o th e r  ad commencing from tho eastern bank of the Jeeree
and continued via Kalanaqn and Kowpo .m, as lar as the Valley of Manipur ; after 
fiiis road has been ttuished, the Rajah will keep it in repairs, so as to enable ladeu 
bullocks to pass during tha cold and dry seasons. .Further, a t the making of tho road, if 
British Of beers bo sent to examine or superintend tho same, tlie ltajaii wilt agree to 
every thing these Officers may suggest.| . 8f* —W ith reference to the intercourse already existing between tho territories of ' V
the British Government and those of the Rajah, if the intercourse be further extern lid, 
it will bo well in every respect, and it will bo highly advantageous to both the Rajah 
and his country. In  order, therefore, that this may speedily take place, the Rajah, at 
the requisition of tho British Government, will furnish a quota of Nagas to asrnst at tho 
construction of the road.

(]{h.—In tho event of w ar with the Burmese, if troops bo sent to Manipur, either 
to protect that country or to advance beyond the Ningtttee, the Ritjub, at .no requisition 
of tlie British Government, will provide bill porters to assist in transporting the ammuni­
tion and ba ggage of suck troops.

•jtk —In  the event of anything happening on the Eastern Frontier of the British 
Territories, the Rajah will, when required, assist the British Government with a portion 
of his troops.

\ ?■ ' >' |vV'4iV: v ‘ 1



(M.—The. Rajah will be answerable for all the ammunition be receives from the
British Gov'-immont, and will, for the information of the British Government, give in 
every meut$ a Statement of expenditure to the British Officer attached, to the Levy.*

By the Treaty of 1834 the Kabo Valley was transferred from 
Manipur to Burma, and a money compensation was awarded to the 
ltajah by the British Government in the shape of a stipend of

K  its. 6,000 j>er annum.
Meantime Gumbheer Singh died in January 1834; but the policy

of the time will he found sufficiently 
Minute of Lord William Beiitinok, 1835; explained by the following extract 

first appointment of a Political Agent, ^  & M hm te %y  Lord

William Bentinek, dated 7 th February 1S85 :—
With regard to the petty State of Manipur, I  cannot agree in the _ opinion 

expressed by the late Commissioner of its importance, for, so far from.couRdering it an 
useful outwork in the event of a war with the Burmese, 1 am. rather inclined to regard it 
as an useless and inoonveoient post to defend, in doing whioh we might lose, hut could , :j ■ 
gain no advantage, I have, however, entered more than once into this subject, and I ;h
would refor, for my opinion generally on it, to my Minute of the 26th March 1833,

Since that period the Rajah, Gumbheer Sing, has died, and hi# infant son has been 
placed on the guddee without any disturbance of the public peace under the .Urgency of 
the Sunnaputtoc, the Maharanee retaining ail the State honors and emoluments of Queen, 
ft is hot my intention to enter into the various subjects adverted to in Major Grant’s ; . 
■Report, but merely to observe that, the measures adopted on tbo occasion of it appear to 
have been judicious, and everything meins to promise a state of tranquillity for the future, 
and confine myself to a few observations on tho substance of the 8th paragraph of Maim*

U Grant’s letter and to the Manipur Bevy, to which it refers.
Major Grant suggests that “ it would be advisable to place 200 men of the Bevy under 

the sole and immediate control of tho British Officer in Manipur. The moot impKr.it 
Confidence could be placed in the fidelity to him of the men so attached, and they would 
form a. »»clwtt, round which tho people would assemble to carry, into effect the views of 

B ib Government.” I ’V  ■
Where tho policy of identifying ourselves with the interests* of this petty State is.

* at least questionable,it docs not appear to be a matter of importance to attain tho object 
fit' of Major Grant’s preposition j and if it wore, it is doubtful how far the means recom­

mended are adequate to the end, for I concur in the' opinion expressed’by Mr. 'Robertson 
B ■ Oft this point, that, unless cemented by tho receipt, at his hands of a regular pay, little

reliance could be placed on the .adherence to tho British Officer at. Manipur of any 
. * portion, of tho Bevy that may be placed nominally under his control.

My objections, however, are not limited to tins point alone, but extend to tho 
Manipur Bevy in general. On this body I have already expressed my pinion, and

K haye now only to repeat that I cannot decide, cm any one point of view, the qaxHcncy or 
a<lvantage of maintaining it, I t  consists nominally of 8,000 mou, but so imperfectly 
disciplined, that, as a military force either for offence or defence, it cannot in any !•!
respect be considered efficient or important: and it might certainly, so far as our interests ..*»
are concerned, bo much more advantageously replaced on occasion by n Detachment from , .....
Sylhet than retained on its present dubious and unsatisfactory footing.

If it bo true that the whole population of tho Manipur State does not (screed '
30,000 or 40,000 sottb, the ke. • iug up of this Bevy draws one individual in twelve of the 
most able-bodied from the number to an unproductive military occupation from profitable 

1 !* mercantile or agricultural pursuits j the extension of the latter being, it is milord cod. of
the utmost, importance to the prosperity of the Stote oireumstuneed as it is : I should t Cf 
therefore prefer, if our connection with Manipur is to be continued, placing in It a 

. small garrison of our own troops to retaining so large a portion of its scanty population
for military duties. IS

* As the connection of the British Government with the Manipur Bevy and the 
Supply of ammunition to the Levy have ceased, this clause is inapplicable to present 

^  * circumstances.

, j 2  •> yOETIi-S.V^'. W  'SEN' ....



a of terminating'* system vh'.oh, I  am satisfied, is radically defer- j! |
be consideration of Council, the discontinuance of British superintend- ,; ; ,
ly denominated the Manipur Levy, fearing it optional with tJio Vi'JU

Government of the country to maintain that force or not as it pleases.
Should this measure be resolved upon, Major Grant’s services can be no longer 

required in Manipur. He has, by the Begulations of the service, become ineligible for 
the t inj>1 \ merit he is in by his promotion to a regimental majority, and ho may 

, aooordiiigly be placed at the disposal of the Commander-In-Chief.
.. ; . The preservation of a friendly intercourse, and as a medium of communication with

the Manipur Government, and, ns occasion may require; with the Burmese Authorities 
,,n that frontier, and more especially to prevent border feuds and disturbances which might 
)<si& to host ililies between the Mauipurians and the Burmese, it may be necessary to 
r- isiu tin Officer in the character of Political Agent in that quarter. Lieutenant Gordon, 
wlmse ability, Intelligence, and local knowledge have more than once been brought 
favourably to the notice of Government., seems to be well qualified for this situation, and I 
beg to propose that he may ho appointed to if on a consolidated salary of Ha. 1,000 

% per mensem.
Lieutenant Gordon will receive his instructions from, and correspond directly with, d ifffl

the Secretary to Government of Bengal in the Political Department.
On the death of Gutnbheer S in g  in 1834, his infant son, Chancier

kirtee Sing, the present Rajah, was 'i|S
Intermittent wars for the succession, upon tha throne of Mailt-

jttar by the Senaputty Nur Singy 
whilst, the Senaputty himself became Regent. Subsequently frequent 
attempts were made by different Chiefs to obtain possession of the 
throne, bat all were frustrated, and three of the lenders lost their lives. yv

L At length in 1841 the mother of the young Rajah made au attempt to p
murder the Regent Nur Sing. The attempt failed. Nur Sing was 
severely wounded, hut many of the participators were apprehended, and1 

1  the Ranee, fearful of the consequences, fled from the country with the
:|j young Rajah. This flight was treated as an abdication of the throne

by Chinnier Kirtee Sing, and the Regent Nur Sing became the 
actual Rajah, and was formally recognised as such by the British 
Government on the 48th September 1344. From this time, however,
the rumours of intended attacks are said to have been unceasing. In

P IS 17 it was reported that one Chief was about to invade Manipur 
with a force from Ava, and the Manipuri Princes in Gaohar were 
warned by Government that.they were liable to be removed into 
Bengal i f  their proceedings were such as to create disturbances in.
Cue hat- or on the borders of Manipur. In 1850, however, three 
Princes concerted measures for another attack of Manipur, and nil 
three were killed. Shortl \ afterwards Nur Sing died and was succeeded 
by his brother Debiudro Sing.

The most important event of the period which followed was the
dethronement of Debiudro Sing, the ,

: Special recognition and guarantee of accession of Chun ler Kirtee Sing, the
Ctunder ftirteo 8mg! til“ J-j'J' "f present Rajah, and the subsequent O
1851- special recognition ot the latter by

the British Government. The facts 
were as follow Debindro Sing had succeeded to the throne on the 
death of his brother Nur Sing. At the same time, Cl.under Kirtee 
Sing, the ex.-Rajah, who had been carried away by his mother in 184!

i  • •••„ • ’
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after the attempted murder of the Regent, advanced his claim,; 
and appeared prepared to support it by force of arms. Under these cir­
cumstances, and at the earnest recommendation of Captain MacCulloch,, 
who had for some time succeeded to the post of Political Agent, the 
British Government recognised the succession of Debimlro Sing, and 
sanctioned the apprehension of Chunder Kirtee Sing and the removal 
of both the Kx-Bajah and his mother to Dacca, in order to prevent a 
contest which might be attended with serious results.  ̂Accordingly, 
Chunder Kirtee Sing was arrested, but managed to effect his escape 
from his guards, and again advanced to assert his claim to the Guddee. : ; 
Meantime Captain MacCulloch withheld the recognition of Dc-biadro 
Sing; and it was fortunate that he did so, far the cause of Chunder
Kirtee Sing rapidly gained strength, whilst_ that of Debindro Sing 
declined, until at length the former succeeded in gaining possession ot 
the throne and became tie facto Rajah.

But., notwithstanding Chunder Kirtee Sing’s success, attempts 
were frequently made by Debindro Sing, or one or other of his brothers, 
to invade Manipur j and in 1851, in order to check these attacks and 
put a stop to the anarchy which resulted from them, Captain 
MacCulloch made certain propositions which arc here given m

Apprehending troubles 1 recommended via. moral of Kirtee Chunder to Baeca..
My recomniendufciou was, per letter No. 1271, deted 1 7th. May 1850, acceded to ; but, oefcore 
having been carried into effect, ho escaped from Caohar, aud having gumed possession 
of the throne, tlie circumstances of the country, judging from the late contests ana now 
existing rumours of others, appear to be about to return to ,tho state they are deeonbea 
by Captain Pemberton to have been in before connection with the British Government

J. beg to state most respectfully that in my opinion the establishment of good order 
aud the maintenance of authority in this country oan be effected only by_the brown 
Government. In a country which, like this, owes its existence, and owns that it ones 

1 so to the British Government, the influence of that Government ought, l  huiub.y conceive,
§  , to be paramount and capable of effecting this j but oft-repeated contests f or the throne 4

have lessened that influence, and will, I fear, if not, prevented, destory it eventually 
'!> \  altogether; a successful attempt from Burma would do so at once.

Towards the effecting of good order and maintenance of authority the tlutioning 
J of British troops in Manipur would be the most effectual means. Xlieso troops,

however, could not be paid either in whole or part, and 1 have not contemplated 
this measure; but a more formal acknowledgment of the Bajah, with a declaration 
that he will not recognise as Bajah any Prince who by force may dispossess him, 
would, I think, prove a strong check upon these frequent attacks, would induce 
a feeling of security in the Authorities, and with that in inclination to improve 
rather than grind the people, and in this manner put a stop to these contests tor 
the throne, so injurious to the country and British interests.

I hog to state that the Mauipurians are, in civilization only, a slight 
degree superior to the wild tribes by whom they are surrounded, and it may 
occur, in spite of the declaration I have above suggested should be made, tn;., a. 
successful attempt may bo made against the Bajah. In such oas-; the interference or 
our troops might be required; but 1 trust the dread of the British Government 
may bo sufficient to deter the boldest from attempting to achieve the possession ot 
what he would know he could not hold.

In reply to these recommendations., Captain MacCulloch was told 
on the 3rd October 1851 that the British Government had heretofore 
abstained from interference in settling the succession to the guddee of
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Manipur; but. th$t, under tho eireumstanceB, lie was authorised “ to jraJS
make a public avowal of the determination of the British Government 
to uphold the present Rajah, and to resist and punish any parties 
attempting- hereafter to dispossess him.'” This declaration appears to 
have done but little towards suppressing either the rumours of attacks 
or tbe attacks themselves. Meantime the Court of Directors remarked 
in a despatch dated ath May 1852 :—

, The position which you have assumed, of pledged protectors of tho Rajah, imposes
on you, as a necessary consequence, the obligation of attempting to guide him by vour 
advice, bat, if needful, of protecting his subjects against oppression ou his part; other- 
wiw our guarantee of his rule may be the cause of inflicting on them a oorUinuanoe ot 

sr. reckless tyranny.
From this time to the temporary retirement of Major MacCulloch

from the Political Agency in 1861 
Condition of Manipur under Chunder there occurs very little worthy of

notice respecting Manipur m the 
Foreign Department Records. The conduct of the Rajah during the 
mutiny was reported to have been praiseworthy, and the satisfaction of 
Government was accordingly expressed on this subject. In 1859, in conse­
quence of some aggressions of the southern tribes upon the Manipuris, 
a quantity of powder and lead to the value of Rs. 2,500 were given by 
Government to the Rajah.

In February 1S61 the Civil 
i f  Proposed abolition ot the Political Agency Finance Commission proposed the

abolition of the Manipur Agency.
Immediately afterwards Major MacCulloch intimated his intention 

of submitting an application for leave to England, and requested to be 
informed whether Government intended appointing a successor to bis 

H office. In reply he was informed that Government had no such
’ •. intention.
? Major MacCulloch next submitted, on the 18th July 1861,

the following Memorandum on the ■. 'j
Memorandum by M:ijor MacCulloch, 8th duties of a Political Agent of

July 1801. °
Manipur :—

A Political Agon* first appoint ed for the preservation of a friendly intercourse 
and as a medium of communication with the Manipur Government, uni! as occasion 
may require with the Burmese Authorities ou the frontier, and uor.- especially to 
prevent border feuds and disturbances which might lead to hostilities between the 
Manipur tans and the Burmese.

My Report on Manipur, printed by Government, will inform you of the many 
attempts, since tbe Rajah Gurnbheer Singh’s death (when the Political Agent was first 
appointed), made to upset the ruling Princes. To prevent theso often-recurring attacks,
Government, in 1851, avowed publicly their determination to uphold the present Rajah, 
and to resist and to punish any parties attempting hereafter to dispossess him : this 
avowal added to the duties of the Political Agent. The Court of Directors said—“ The 
position, however, which you have assumed, of pledged protectors of tGo Rajah, impost* 
on you, as a necessary consequence, the obligation, not only of attempting to guide him 
by your advice, but, if needful, of protecting his subjects against oppression on his part ; 
otherwise our guarantee of his rulo may be the cause of inflicting on them a continuance 
of reckless tyranny. The obligation thus incurred may bo found embarrassing, but it 
must, nevertheless, he fulfilled, and, while needless interference is of course to bo avoided, 
we shall expect, as the price of the protection afforded him, the Cajali will submit to our

B fe’ , /> . ; v. ..ifei; ■ :Lm  : a d ■
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maintaining a sufficient check ov«r the general condnot of It is Administration, so w to 
provent it from being oppressive to the people and discreditable to the Gcvwnmout wb ieh 
gives it support.” This is very strong—too strong, indeed, for the circumstances of die 

:';w, country, fou  will observe in' my printed account that the whole system of Government
since first.it* establishment in Manipur-is oppressive in the extreme, yet, unices tnaeh 
abused, it is not complained of. Needless interference is to bo avoided—and it would, of 
course, be considered needless were one to interfere with a wlidi-.s system. This I have 

••'.A' not done, for that would have* been to subvert everything ; but particular caws, bearing
on their faces oppression not required to carry out tho particular system under winch the 
country is governed, I. have considered to b© of the nature of those that should b© inter- 
fered with t and I have, flt.Tisoguontly, prevented such. Manipuris arc now loud iu '%! 

| f u. 1 complaining ; this formerly they" were afraid of doing : but every complaint requires 
consideration* not only on its own merits, but with reference to tho system of government 
which has been handed down to them by their ancestors. I consider that by degrees 

, : this system must he modified, and in fact, in my own time, it has much changed. But
s much’is required to ho done, and to keep' up a salutary check, complaint must bo eooour*

a gad, not discouraged. Many complaints wit! be worthless, but still tho hearing 0£ them, 
i , . will give you an insight into tbv. peculiar system which cannot be got by merely reading ,
W i my account, or papers in the Office.

Tho hill people require much attention, and those on the Burmese Frontier more. ,|
, especially. It was tho drwd of their lawless habits that led to file appointment ot an

Agent bore. These peopl-’ are now pretty well in hand, it  is principally towards Sum i'>s i
that apprehensions of the billuicn committing bruacheiS of tho peace oi tho rroncior by • , 
carrying off cattle, &o., are to bo entertain, d. Between these men and the southern 
tribes tho people are quiet; nnd all that is wanted there is to seo that traders arc not : y
impeded in passing through them by petty plundering. Iu the south occasional raids of 
the tribes take place, and I base had several complaints from tho Burmese Autb-.- ■. s in 
consequence. These raids they usually attribute to people in tho Manipur territory,

A whilst they arc mostly committed 1: y men to the south of our bon ml ary, the N unisauunjg
UWei. -South of tho Numsailung arc some powerful fribss, amongst whom Manipur is •. 
nothing! in fact to that part no Maiupuri has ever ponatratod, and even as far as the 
Nimuailurg no one-but myself has ever attempted to proceed. The people as far as the 
Numsailung have all submitted to mo and will obey my orders, and my name is amongst 

*?•. those to the south of it. This quart, r will claim much attention, but 1 hope nothing will . .  ,
i l l  occur requiring much investigation, for there is no ono who could assist you much in tho
V i mutter. You might, however, find Gnwrgembft Jemadar, a person ivlw could assist; yon a.
y i 1 little iu reference to tho Rookies; and he is well acquainted with the other tribes, the

1 rhukloeee. who are Anals, and under my superintendence,
f  : : Ungatel, Pule!, Aimole, Konggaug, and Soobong must not be allowed ttnnooes- ■ i-
|  sarily to\.o interfered with. These arc villages on tho principal line of route to Burma, ; .
|jty , who carry rice to tho Thamth and give coolies on public service.

On tho western side, the Roupoooo tribe requires much attention. Through thorn ilia 
Manipur road runs, and on their presence depends its efficiency ; they have much heavy oy ,
work to perform for tho Government, which must not. be unnecessarily increased. Several 
village* of this tribe, which had deserted their positions, I have re-established ana Since 
their re-establishment insisted that oppression shall not. be the cause ot their again leaving y
thorn, Q'hese villages do work for tho Rajah, but under ray control. I ho whole range1* , . .t
between the Barak and Jeereo were by Treaty given to the Rajah ; one of the conditions ; 1 

, was that he would not oppress their inhabitants or prevent them -freely taking their
products to the markets at Luokipore, Oodarbund, or elsewhere. This war special: the - 

i order of the Court of Directors applies to all.
Besides these there is the An-mwee tribes which will require attention; the Marti- § | 

Din* Government ought not there unnecessarily to interfere. Our iro\ernin©nt - gS 
ceased to have anything to say to that tribe; but to allow tho Manipuris to do as tnejr s .
wished in that direction would not be expedient or politic, there is cause for Sim ipu* 
interference with as high, a hand as they could assume, but still the idea that th'jr nots 
amongst the Angamoca are being observed keeps them from doing mich that Uwy would k
otherwise do. In the month of Mora it was agreed that an expedition should proceed to 

jV |  the Angimiee Hills: I would urge it.
In the hills all round the valley, and to the west beyond the Barak aiui  ̂Mookroo,  ̂

are Rookies over whom I exercise a general superintendence to prevent oppression ot .tho 
people, driven from their homes by their enemies in the south, i'he i (o Ivejah of

 ̂ ■. . . . ■ ■ . ; y  Vj. iy iilfe i M m
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Manipur, Nnr Singh, mads over the superintendence of all these tribes to me. This 
arose from the first proceedings in connection with them for the establishment of a line of 
villages to the south of the Koupooees, a matter which came before the Governor General 
in Council. The Subadar, who wm general manager under me, is dead ; but the inter* 
prefers or Lampoon remain, and will be of use in matters connected with this people.
1 prevent as much as possible the selling of slaves b.v (Cookies, and decline altogether W
revive old causes of complaint arising from a time when they were quite out of any , !
control but their own passions.

Beyond the Manipur boundary are the Soote and Loosai tribes. Those are both \i;
powerful and dangerous, but at present they profess friendship, and I encourage them to 
uoine and go, though, if it were possible, the Soote tribe should be attacked, In conned- 
tion with these people, and as a protection to the south of the valley, the Rajab and I 
have established in the south villages of Ivookios, to whom are given arms, and whom wo 
(Mil sepoy villages. They are to he unrestricted in their cultivation, and have to send 
scout-to watch the tribes at the season when they are most able to move about and do 
miseniof. These sepoy tillages are uot quite settled, but by care they might be brought 
to a proper state of usefulness.

It is necessary to protect traders of all descriptions who visit the valley itself to 
trade in it, or who pass through it to Burma for that purpose. All who pass through for 
that purpose get passes from me, and when they return I see the cattle they bring, and w
after having inspected them, my servant, IfansekpaHazoree. collects the tax, pays it to fj
the Rajah, gets the proper Mohurs, and sends th em  on. This ie done to prevent delay 
and oppression, which would take place were the business left to the Itajata’s people alone, ; ’*«

, Under Treaty heavy duties are not to be exacted on commodities, ft- has been my v)
endeavour to encourage trade by every means in my power j and the present traffic, now 
pretty com iderable, would entirely atop were I to refrain to take the trouble f  do about it 
I do uot think yon will have many complaints, at least for several years I have not, but I 

. . obtained immunity only from prompt measures, and sometimes severe ones. I do not 
■ think there is anything else much requiring notice hero except the subject of slavery.

Formerly slaves were taken into Burma, and there exchanged for ponies, Ac This I have 
entirely stopped ; but, though stopped, the trade is not detested, and were it thought that 
attention was not directed to this point, it might revive. I would therefore occasionally 
ask concerning it, and express strong determination to punish any one breaking the 
prohibition. Manipuris from Caobar sometimes come hero and claim people as their 
slaves : when I hear of such, 1 entirely disallow any proceedings.

An allowance is paid to Manipur for the giving up of tho Kubboo Valley to the 
Burmese. This allowance Souut Rupees 500 per month is paid to tho reigning 
livjah, &<)., Ac., Ac.

Subsequently on the 18tb August 1861, Major MacCulloch trans­
mitted the following communication from the Rajah of Manipur to 
the Governor General:—

(After usual compliments.)
1 beg to state that the Political Agent at Manipur has prepared himself to obtain 

h a v e  and go to his Native country, but 1 learn that no person will be appointed as hi. 
successor. This circumstance will place the territory in danger. Manipur was mined 
by tho Burmese, but the British Government, having re-established it, appointed a 
Political Agent there. From the fact of a European Officer having been stationed at 
Manipur to settle all the affairs of tho Burmese Frontier, the people of my territory 

j: dwell in peace and without any fear There is an order of Government to the affect that
no Prince would create rebellion and commit slaughter. From this order, as well as from 
the preeenoe of a Political Officer, t he people of this country feel more confident than 
before that no misfortune will befall this place. Should an evil occur in this territory, 
there is no one but the Government to which an application can be made for its removal.
The inhabitants of Bengal, Naga, Burma, and Manipur are now trading to different 
places in safety ; but if there be no Political Agent at Manipur, the people thereof will 
not, from fear, be ablo to enjoy peace and tranquillity. I therefore beg that Your 
■Excellency will take the foregoing circumstances into your consideration and adopt such 
measures as may be deemed proper.

mm y
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Tbe Memorandum of Major MacCulloch and the letter from
the Rajah of Mam pur were re*

§  Opinion of the Bengal Government npnn ferreJ to the Bengal Governmen t
vf, , . the retention of the Political Agency. fm. ^  eXpres8ion of opinion as to

whether the Lieutenant-Governor saw any serious difficulty in trans­
ferring the duties of the Agent in Manipur to the Superintendent. of 

® Cachav. In reply the Lieutenant-Governor submitted tiny opinion of
Captain Stewart, the Superintendent of Cachar, together with his own 
views. _ , ' ^$®|i

The Superintendent of Cachar considered that the peace of Mani­
pur and of the Eastern Frontier required that a European Officer should J  
reside at Manipur. The capital is 132 miles from Cachar, from which 
it is separated by seven ranges of hills varying from 8,000 to 7.,QUO joet 
hbdi and four large rivers unbridged. Should the Political Agent be , ^ 
withdrawn, the wild and savage tribes of Nagas and Kookies, surropud- ^ 
in"- the valley of Manipur, would he up in arms; whilst the Maui* 
tuiris themselves, who are already divided into a dozen tactions, 
would split against the present Rajah, and each endeavour to_ place ms 
own man upon the throne. Under these circumstances Captain btewart 
expressed the opinion that, separated as Manipur is from Cachar, the 
Officer resident at Manipur should ho authorised to act independently, 
being responsible to Government atone; hut if it were resolved to ;y  
abolish the Agency, then he would recommend the appointment ot a 
vouno- Military Officer as an Extra Assistant to he Resident at Mam- 
pat under the authority of the Superintendent of Cachar. t he 
Lieutenant-Governor endorsed the views of Captain Stewart, and also. y  
expressed the opinion that, owing to the inadequacy of military tore© 
iri that quarter, the Bengal Provinces were deeply concerned m  the 
continuance of tranquillity beyond the Cachar Frontier. _ M

The Government of India accordingly determined to maintain the 
Agency. Rut. in October 18(53 the question of its abolition or reten­
tion was again raised. Pending the consideration of the question tlie 

ti Agency records were removed to Sylhet. Mr. H. Bevendge, the ttfhcer
deputed to remove the records to Sylhet, gave his opinion on the subject.
He was “ decidedly of opinion that the Agency ought not to be abolish­
ed.” His chief reason for this opinion was that he believed the Rajah, 
the Ministers, and the people all wished that the Agency should he 
continued. The reasons also for which the Agency was established stilt 
existed. An Agent was required to arbitrate disputes on the I urines© J 
frontier, and Manipur being surrounded by hill tribes, he said there was. : :
no doubt that a Political Agent could be of great service to both the trues 
and to Maniimr by using his influence to check lawlessness on the one hand 
and oppression on the other, and that the removal of the Political Agent g 
would be the signal for disorder. There were several 1. nnces m Cacnar 
a n d  Sylhet, he remarked, ready to re-enter Manipur and renew their 
conflicts on the first opportunity. He also considered that the increased 
intc-eourse between Manipur and Cachar and the tea-planters made the 

, ,  presence of a Political Agent in Manipur even more desirable than
• e ,*.k
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formerly. In a letter dated 10th February IS64, the Rajah him.-elf 
again asked the Government of India to place an officer in Manipur. (*)
He said he believed the country would sustain injury if no officer were 
stationed there, and asked that Colonel McCulloch might he re-appoint­
ed. The Bengal Government considered that, if it were determined to 
abolish the Agency, the relations of Government with Manipur might 
ho conveniently managed by the Superintendent of Cachar, acting under 
tlie orders of the Local Government. It was finally decided" by the 
Government of India to maintain an Agent at Manipur. The following- 

I is an extract of the orders passed : —
The past history of the country shows that no Chiof has boon able to manage I lie 

people: they have ono and all proved cruel, oppressive, and weak. The country has been V
the scene of civil wars, murilcrs, devastation, and misery under tly nominal control of 
the Chiefs 5 while, as a rule, peace, order, and comparative prosperity reigned whiles 
British Agent was present. In addition to theso arguments in favour of the appointment, 
of an Agent- is the circumstance that indigenous tea, has boon found in larire quantities 
all i a rough the country r the knowledge of this will ere long make it the resort of 
Englishmen in great numbers. It will bo difficult therefore, if not impossible, to prevent 
constant collision between them and the natives, unless a British Officer is on the spot.

On the other hand, Ma nipur is ton distant and too difficult of access to he properly 
managed by the District Officer at Cachar. Captain Stewart, the Superintendent, states 
that, Manipur is 132 miles From Cachar “ over seven ranges of hills, each from 2,000 to
7,000 feet in height,, and across four large rivers unfordable during the greater pwfc of 
the year and not admitting of boats." The post lakes soven days m the dry season and 
toil ill the rains.

Lastly, but not least, both iho Chief himself and his people desire to have a 
British Agent among them ; they have told Captain Stewart that the presence of one is 
ft)u*l to a brigade as rejjards the security of the country. The Governor Gt neral in 
Council is, therefore, of opinion that it i.i expedient that there should be an Agent at Mani­
pur, and will communicate hereafter the name of the officer whom he selects for the 
appointment.

On the Agency being re-established Colonel McCulloch was again 
Appointed Political Agent.(*)

Various officers have since then held the appointment, and have 
endeavoured with more or less success to induce the Maharajah to behave 
with propriety to his own immediate subjects, and the hill tribes owning 
a nominal allegiance to his Government. But since Colonel 
McCulloch’s time none lias been more successful than Lieutenant-Colonel 
Johnstone who took charge in September .1877 and has with occasional 
absences on leave remained there up to date.

The Agency was from 1836 under the direct control of the Govcru-
Porition of the Agency. >nent of ln d ia - , T“ l *G7 Sir J .

Lawrence proposed its transfer to 
that of Bengal, but the Lieutenant-Governor (Sir W. Grey) objected,

M  | ________________ _____ 111
(’) Political Proceedings (India), April 1864, No. 102,

Political Proceedings (India), April 1864, Nos. 104 to 106. 
iym'. Political Proceedings (India), April 1864, No. 108.

(*) Political Proceedings (Fudia), April 1864, No. 111.
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on'the ground, that the Agent might, at any time, be mixed up in trah- 
eactions with Burma with which a Local Government was not competent 
to deal. It would suffice if copies of reports relating to tribes border­
ing on. Bengal were .forwarded by the .Agent to the Bengal Secretariat.
When the Assam Chief Cominissionership was formed, the Agent was

5,;; ordered to forward his letters through the Chief Commissioner under A
flying seal, and he and the officers of Manipur have now been placed 
entirely under the control of the Chief Commissioner,

For many years after the accession of Clrander Kirtee Sing, Mani- 
, , ,, pur was disturbed by raids organ-

Modern rants on Mu.pur. l y  ]>ebi)adro Si„g) Ranai Sing,
Goknl Sing, and other members of the Royal Family, with the object of 
driving Chunder Kirtee from the throne. The British Government took 
steps to prevent and punish such enterprises, and since 1866 they have 
entirely ceased, their possible -leaders having either died in _ confine­
ment or being still detained under surveillance at a distance from the- :1 

1, frontier.
It has been suspected that not a few of the raids of Lushais and 

other hill men on Manipur and even, on British territory were instigated 
by members of the Manipur house. Of the Lusliais we shall hear more 
in the next chapter, but it will be convenient to bring together here all 
that is on record of the connection of Manipur with that and other 
tribes, evfin though in so doing the narrative has to assume some know­
ledge' of what follows.

Its is unnecessary here to enter into (Mails regarding the raiding 
_ . . propensities of the Lu-hais. In the

The Lusiaif*. year IS71 they had committed raids
in Caehar, Sylhet, Manipur, and Hill Tipperah, and were at the same 
time at feud with the Kamhow or Sokties, a tribe living to the south 
of Manipur; and their aggressions had. become so unexampled in violence, 
as to lead to an expedition being sent; against them at the end of that 
year by the British Government, in which the levies of Manipur were 
invited to join. The expedition was extremely successful. The tribes 

I  of Vonpilal, Poihoi, and Vonolal, the most, powerful Chiefs, wore
reduced to submission by the British troops, the fine imposed was paid, 
hostages accompanied the force on its return, and guarantees were 
{riven of free passage through the country in future for Government - ■ 
agents. Previous to the withdrawal of the Manipur troops from the , 
Lushai country several of the Chiefs entered into an engagement with 
the Manipuvi authorities also to keep the peace with Manipur for the 
future. Several of them afterwards visited Manipur and there renewed 
their engagement. After the expedition Lushai raids into British teiti- 
tory entirely ceased, but this can hardly be said with regard to such 
raids on Manipur territory. The Lushais have hut little direct 
communication with Manipur, and the Political Agent has few dealings 

| and little influence with them. The Deputy Commissioner of Caehar
is regarded throughout the Lushai country as the Burra Sated,
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Tin; policy to be followed by Manipur with regard to the Lushais
was laid down by the Government of '. Jtj

t
 Policy to be pursued by Manipur towards In d ia  in  a  le t te r  to  th e  P o li tic a l ' M

Ua> LusW Agent, No. U27P., dated dOth June
3 8 70; (1) of which the following is an extract:—Wiwi , *v

It is essential that similar measures for Uie establishment of friendly relations with 
tin Lushais should be adopted from the side of Manipur, nud that the Baja and his 
subjects should be restrained from oonuuiting aggressions on these tribes. J. ara therefore 
to request that you will impress ou the Baja, in the most emphatic manner possible, 
that wh ile he should take all necessary measures lor the protection of his frontier, no 
unprovoked aggression on his part can be permitted, and that he must take effective steps 
to make his subject Kookies understand this, and to punish rigorously any disobedience 
of these instructions.

This line of policy was again confirmed after the Lushai expedition.
In October ]h72, the Government of India referred the Political Agent 
to the above letter as showing the general policy to be pursued by 
Manipur towards the Rookies and Lushais. (*)

The following year the Political Agent reported that the Lushai
•» i , , , , . . . Chief, Damboom, who, with hisThe Political Agent not to visit the „ '  , . '  ,  . > " ,  .

Lushai country without sanction. rol.ow erS; had  s e t t le d  in  th e  M a n ip u r
hills to the south of the valley, 

had paid a visit to Manipur. The Manipur Authorities tried to keep 
this visit a secret, and the Political Agent, having* heard of the Chief’s 
arrival, sent for him privately. He promised to come, hut did not do 
so, as he was hurried out of the capital that afternoon. The Mahara jah’s 
explanation was not considered by the Political Agent to be satisfactory.
Jle, however, said he would send for Damboom, if required, and did so.
Damboom duly arrived, and was brought to the Agent, Dr. Brown.
Dr. Brown took the opportunity of asking him to explain to the 
Lushais that it was the desire of the British and Manipur Govern­
ments to remain at peace with them, that every protection would he 
afforded them should they desire to trade with Manipur, and to assure 
them that trade and free communication were most desirable. Dr. Brown, 
in reporting this, said he considered that a personal visit to the Lushai 
country and an interview with the Chiefs and inhabitants would be 
productive of much good. He was not sure whether such a course 
would be. practicable and safe, but asked the permission of Government 
to make the attempt. Damboom thought that such a visit might be 
made with safety, but would not state positively that the Chiefs would 
receive the Agent, though he promised to bring information on the sub­
ject, Damboom was, however, detained in the Lushai country when be 
returned thither, and was not allow ’d to return to Manipur. Dr. Brown’s 
proceedings with regard to Damboom were approved, hut he was told not; 
to visit the Lushai country without the express sanction of the Govern­
ment of India. The Bengal Government was of opinion that the 
Political Agent should only be allowed to enter that portion of the
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Lushai country which }»rdor8 cn Manipur, if expr^sly incited by ife  ' ;
Chiefs to do so. The Lieutenant-Governor, however, thought that. Iris 
going' there could do but little good, and that it would he much hotter 
that lie should encourage the Lushais to come into Manipur to sec. : "t 

"fl ' him.(')
lu 1S77, it was.reported that for some yeans previously the Kapj.it ,'Cyy.;

_ . . Naffas living in Manipur territory. 
t0 he LmM in the villages adjacent to the main 

c y ' road from Cachar to Manipur, had
suffered severely from repeated raids by Lushais subject to Poihoi, 
Lalhura,, and Lengkam. The Manipuri guards at Kal.a Naga and 
Kowpum had been attacked and defeated more than once and had 
proved unable to protect the Kapni Nagas, Such was the terror 
instilled by the Lushais that a large tract of country bad been 
deserted, and there was scarcely a village to be found to the south 
of the line of road, the inhabitants having fled to Cachar, or 
removed further north. The Maharajah of Manipur having aseer- 
talned that the Lushai Chiefs Poihoi and Lengkam were willing to 
establish friendly relations with the .Kapni Nagas, proposed, in March 
1877, to send a deputation to Tipai Mukh to conciliate these Chiefs. 
Captain Durand, the Officiating Agent, informed the Deputy Commis­
sioner of Cachar that the Maharajah was sending the deputation, but 
added that he thought it would bo better if the Lushai Chiefs were 
invited into Cachar by the Deputy Commissioner. The deputation duly- 
arrived in Cachar, hut the Deputy Commissioner disapproved of their 
proceeding to Tipai Mukh, where they expected to meet the Lushais. 
lb appeared that the Manipuris proposed only to enter into treaty with 
Poihoi. and Lengkurn, and had brought presents only for .there Chiefs.
The Deputy Cominisinner feared that the Chief Lalhura would resent 
the fact of his being overlooked; but he nevertheless allowed the 
deputation to go to Tipai Mukh to renew overtures with the roan tries 
of Poihoi and Lengkam, and, if the Chiefs were still disposed to enter 
into engagements, to ask for an interview with one Chief, and request 
him to convene a. meet ing of all the Chiefs to consider the question 
of future relations. (Some of the heads of the deputation, however, 
went beyond Tipai Mukh and visited Poihoi, contrary to the instruc­
tions given them. They were well received hv Poihoi, who agreed to 
their proposals, but dissuaded them from going to Lengkam's village, 
though that Chief sent men to escort them. This slight offended 
Lengkam j but his mantries said that if the presents were brought, he 
too would, no doubt, agree to live iu amity with the Kapui Nagas. (3)

The Chief Commissioner of Assam objected to alt this that he 
could not give the Deputy Commissioner of Cachar permission to act 
as a medium in such negotiations till the Maharajah stated plainly the

(‘ ) Political Proceedings (India), January 1874, No. 271. .
(*) Political Proceedings (India), August 1877, Nos, 178-196.
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terms he desired to make with the Lushais, and formally engaged 
that, in the event of disputes arising as to his observance oi: the con­
ditions, he would abide implicitly l»y the Chief Commissioner’s decision.
Ho also requested the Political Agent to inform the Maharajah that, 
though lie was willing to assist him, he felt assured that no negotia­
tions would have any lusting effect, while he failed to protect Lis 
country by force of arms. The Government of India approved the 
Chief Commissioner's orders, but requested that the Maharajah might 
be discouraged from sending such deputations, the effect of which 
might be to cause complications with the tribes on the British 
frontier.

The country inhabited by the Kamhow or Sootie (sometimes called ’ ■
,, . . , ,, _  , , Sooktie and Soktie) tribe lies to the
Relations with to  Katnhows or Sooties. gQuth of Manipur and oast 0f  the

Toorool or Manipur river, that is between the country inhabited by
the Lushais proper and the territory of the l’ajah of Kulb,* who is a
tributary of Burma. Yatole, the present Chief of the Sooties, lives
in the village of Molbhem, which lies far in the interior.(‘) The ’’’P
Mampuris consider this tribe to be a much more formidable one than '
the Lushai. They are a constant source of trouble to them, and have
id times rendered the southern portion of Manipur uninhabitable.
They are constantly raiding, and Colonel Johnstone thinks the cause 
of all this is probably that the Sooties are being driven forward by 
the Shindus, a powerful confederacy living to the south-east of the 
Chittagong Hill Tracts. The Lushais hold the Sooties in great 
dread, and are falling hack before them. They are well supplied 
with fire-arms, supposed to be procured from Burma, whence they 
also obtain their ammunition. They have never had any dealings 
whatever with the British Government. The Chief, Kamhow, after

c'.' ------- ------— ------------------------------ — -----------------------------------------  S
* “ The district of KuM, which, as lias been before observed, forms the southern 

portion of Kubbo, extends a short distance beyond the confluence of the Kathd Kljyoung 
w ith the Ningthee to Mutooga-undeo, tin the right bank of the latter river. The present 
Tsanbwa, or chieftain tributary to Ava, is, according to Lieutenant McLeod, a Shan, 
and lineal descendant of the ancient chieftains of that district, which the Baja said 
extended formerly nearly down to the junction of the Ningthee and Irrawaddy rivers.

> At. present it is sub-divided into 12 small districts, with four towns and three hundred 
and sixty villages, and is supposed altogether to contain about 20,000 houses, anti tot),000 
inhabitants of every description. The Baja admitted, however, that the population had ;
very much decreased since the last census was taken in 1784 A.P. That, portion of his 
subjects who reside -in the plains is almost entirely composed of Shana, while those on ",
the hills west of Kulc are all Kyens, or wild mountains tribes, who tender but a very 
imperfect submission to his authority. Tho force kept up by the Kuld Raja principally 
consists of these Kyens, who arc only occasionally called upon ; and it is probable that 
in a case of extreme urgency, he might be able to raise a force of 5,000 men from among 
the Slums and Kyens ,• bu: the latter could never be depended upon for service beyond his 
own district, and even then reverse would cause their immediate dispersion, and return 
to their fastnesses in the hills.”—Pemberton't Report on the Eastern Frontier, pp.

' 119-120,

(*) Political Proceedings (India), August 1872, No. 14.
; ; Political Proceedings (India), August 1872, No. 3.
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whom the tribe is named, died in IS68, but Yatole, the present Chief, 
is often called Kamhow when referred to as the principal Chief 
or head of the tribe. From the isolated position of the Sooties
there is not much trustworthy information regarding them. In 
1875 'the general opinion amongst the best informed authorities 
in Manipur was that at least 2,000 men, two-thirds of them armed with 
irtnwkets, would be available in the event of an attack being made on :
the villages in the interior.

The Booties are old and formidable foes of Manipur.*1) The M'ani- 
„ Tr our authorities say that during

Ma i up nr Expedition agam st the Kara- v  g in f f»B tim e  (1 S 3 4 -5 0 )  th e y
liows in 1857. , v -\,r—  ■made several raids upon Mampuri

villages and took possession of Mom bee and Heerow&y  ̂within Manipur 
territory, whieli are still occupied by the K.okatuug section 01 the ,a,, 
Booties.' In 1856 they committed a serious outrage on a hill village 
in Manipur territory. ' The Maharajah resolved, to punish them for this ; 
outrage, and in January 1*57 sent an expedition 1,500 strong against 
them." He was so impressed with the importance of the operations_ of :

« the expedition being brought to a successful issue that, with the object 
of encouraging his force, he accompanied it in person. It nevertheless 
ended in the disgraceful flight of the Manipur troops. They neglected • , 
to secure their line of communications, provisions consequently became

B  short aud, instead of falling back on'their line o f  advance, they, after 
some skirmishing with the euemy, fled in confusion by another and. 
unknown route, along which it must have been known that they could 
not possibly obtain provisions. Colonel McCulloch, who was then 
Political Agent, believed sheer cowardice to have been the cause of the 
failure of the expedition. The troops basely left their Rajah, who, with 
some twenty followers, arrived some days after they had reached the 
valley.

In April 1859, the Political Agent reported two serious aggressions
, . bv the Kamhows on Manipuri sub- 

Alf£T :0nS by <h° * reP jeets. (*) The first was an attack ou
a Hankeep village near Shoogoonoo, 

not far from the southern frontier. The village was burnt aud the 
headless trunks of fifteen men were found. Forty-five men, women, 
and children were also carried into captivity, with their flocks and herds.
The second aggression was an attack on Saitol, in which the Village was 
burnt and a part of its herds driven away, but none of the people killed 
or captured- After these attacks a line of posts was established for the

t

 protection of the south of the valley and for the resistance of any sad­
den attack the tribes might make.

(l) Political Proceedings (India), .August 1872. No. 90.
Foreign Con ui'untioin, 13th February 1857, Nos. 131-S3.
Political Proceedings (India), August 1872, No. 90.

(*) Foreign Consultations, 27th May 1859, No, 332.
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ition Report for 1863-69 it was stated that a

.. month after the Manipur force <t;
returned from the expedition 01 
1857, the Booties sent messengers to 

Manipur and promised Colonel McCulloch not to molest the Maharajah's 
subjects further, that this promise had been adhered to, that they were 
then decidedly friendly, and traded freely with the valley, and that 
Kambow reported regularly any suspicious doings amongst the Lushais, 
and would remain neutral, or even give assistance, in the event of their 

i being attacked by" Manipur. This assertion that the Kamhows sub­
mitted to Colonel McCulloch after the expedition of 1867, and that y
they had remained friendly from that time up to 1871, has been re­
peated by various officers, but no report of ary such submission was 
then made by Colonel McCulloch to the Government of India. On the 

■ contrary, the aggressions referred to in the foregoing paragraph show 
that they were not friendly in 1859, and the Maharajah then applied 
for a quantity of ammunition on payment, so that he might he able to 
retaliate on this tribe, which was granted.(*) The Manipur authorities, 
in 1872, also asserted that Kamliow raids had occurred at intervals 
from 1857 to that year. They mentioned seven Kamhow raids on 
Manipur villages which had taken place from 1857 to 1.871 and two 
during the Lushai expedition. The recent raids prior to 1872 were, 
however, repudiated by the principal Chief. When referred to about a 
raid committed on a Manipur village by the Kokatung section in 1871, 
he declared that it was done without his authority, and that he had 
very little control over the elan in question. The question whether, 
up to this time, the Booties were really friendly or hostile to Manipur, 
was therefore a disputed j»he. In the beginning of 1871, while the 
fighting men of the Lushais were raiding on Manipur and Caehar, 
the Booties eutered the Lushai country and killed and carried off a 
largo number of Lushais. The Sooties sent the heads of four of the 
men killed on this occasion to Manipur. It would thus appear that 
they were not then openly hostile to Manipur.

Towards the end of 1871, when preparations were being made for 
_ .  „ . 0 „ the expedition against the Lnshais, m

vioos to the Lushai Expedition. the Maharajah of Manipur, with the
concurrence of the Political Agent, 

sent for the Chief of the tribe to ascertain what assistance he could 
afford towards the expedition. (2) The Chief replied that he was unable
to leave his tribe as the Lushais were then collecting in great force, and 
he did not know whether their object was to attack his tribe or to set

(*) Political Proceedings (India), May 1871, No. 376.
Political Proceedings (India), August 187a, No. 3.
Political Proceedings (India), August )«72, No. 14.
Foreign Consultations, 6th May 1859, Nos. 333 and 333.

HKBgg? Political Proceedings (India), August 1872, No. 70.
Political Proceedings (India), May 1871, Nos 57$, 588, and 609.

(*) Political Proceedings (India), August 1872, No. 2.
Political Proceedings (India), August 1872, No. 38.
Political Proceedings (India), August 1872, No, 16.
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 He. however, sent a deputation to the

irances. The members of this deputation 
) be allowed to go forward and attack 
is. They received strict injunctions not 
•ear to have heeded these in junctions, tor,, a 
received that they had actually engaged 
erious loss on either side, only three ot the 
Sootie wounded. ,||

The Maharajah o f  Manipur supplied a contingent of about 2,000
m en to  assist in  the operations in 

Capture of the Kamhow Chief Kokatung Lushai country, w hich acted

I
 by the Mauipur Contingent. under the orders of Major-General
'Nuthall, who was thou Officiating Political Agent at Manipur. (1) The . 
contingent occupied an extended line of posts along the southern 
boundary of Manipur for the purpose of watching the Lushais against 
whom Brigadier-General Bonrehier was operating through ^Cachar. 
This position was also calculated to secure the fidelity of Kamhow, 
whilst it enabled the contingent to take full advantage of any assistance 
ho might render. The hostile attitude of the Sooties towards the other 
tribes was well known, hut, in the event, of their throwing in. their lot 
with them, the contingent would also have been in a position to attack 
them. "When the Manipur troops were returning after the conclusion 
of the expedition they fell in with a party of Kara hows tinder the Chief 
named Kokatung,' who were carrying away 957 captives from two 
Lushai villages. The Kamhows came into the camp of the Manipur 
Contingent apparently not expecting to be treated as enemies, but were 
all made prisoners by the Contingent and taken to Manipur and placed 
in irons in the jail. The 957 captives wore also taken to Manipur,, but 
not us prisoners; they were settled in the valley. General Bourchier 
stigmatized this as an aet of “ treachery” on the part of t̂he Contingent, 
though it had been admitted that Kokatung had committed a raid on 
a ' Manipur village in 18,71. General Nuthall, the Officiating Agent, 
however, maintained that the Sooties were hostile to Manipur, and, 
with the view of refuting the representations made to the Government , 
of India regarding die “  friendly alliance” of the Sootie tribe, he su b­
mitted a list of raids alleged by Manipur to have been committed on 
that Stale from 1885 to that date. He 'described Kamhow’s attitude 
since the affair of 1857 already described to he “ one of alternate pie* 
tenee of submission, raid upon Rajahs distant villages, and assurance 
of non.-participation / J It was, however, generally .considered by ether 
officials that the Kamhows were friendly. Mr. Edgar, the Deputy 
Commissioner of Cachar, said there could be no doubt that ‘ Kamhow 
was quite in earnest in desiring to help Manipur and us agamic 
his old enemies, the people of VonoleBs villages, but of course,^ 
he added, f< he can never forgive that wonderful piece ot treachery 
(referring to the capture of Kokatung and his followers). I t should,

(>) Political Proceedings (India), August 1872, No, 70.



however, he mentioned that General Nnthall was not actually present 
Kokatung and his followers were disarmed and made prisoners, but 

was a tew miles in advance: he nevertheless approved what the 
Manipur Majors had dope, and thus became responsible for their act. >*3$
f1e , f “e<1 *i\at the Governor General in Council might be moved
to acknowledge the judicious and resolute conduct of the two Majors'* 
to whom the “ success" was due.

1 lie Kamhows were anxious to obtain Kokatung’s release, and,
Affairs from !S72 to 1875. Policy to sent an embassy

be j,iirsuod by Manipur towards the *-°, Manipur with that object. (’) 
w;, hamhows. Kikoul, who was chief of the ein- f

.. . . , , ,  , bassy, was informed that no proposi-
•tion of any kind could he entertained whilst a single subject of the 
Maharajah remained in their hands, ami that, if the captives were not 
released, the Maharajah would take measures to punish the Kamhows 
Kokatung died shortly after this in the Manipur jail

In August 1872, the Political Agent reported that he had heard 
it was the intention of Manipur to attack the Kamhow* during the 
imsuing cold season. They wished to release the Manipur captives
w.th the Kamhows and bring the tribe into subjection. The Political 
Agent asked whether the expedition should be allowed. (-) The 
Manarajah had t or some time previously been pressing him to obtain the 
sanction of Government for the supply of four mountain guns with 
elephant gear complete, the same ns used by the British troons during 
the Lusha, expedition. The Kamhows, on the other hand, had <dven 
out that they would require 100 human heads to perform the funeral 
obsequies of then- late Chief. The Government of Bengal and the 
Government of India were averse to any war taking place on our 
frontier, and the Political Agent was informed that, in the opinion of 
the Governor General in Council, it would be exceedingly impolitic to 
authorize any such expedition by Manipur against the Kamhows. The ’
1 ohtieal Agent was also referred to this office letter already quoted
on thegeneral question of the policy to be pursued by Manipur towards
the Rookies and Lushais. The policy to be followed by Manipur "
towards the Kamhows is therefore the same as that towards the Lushais
proper, viz., that while the Maharajah should take all necessary measures
for the protection of his frontier, no unprovoked aggression on his
part can be admitted.

In October 1872, the Kamhows sent another embassy under 
Kikoul to Manipur. This embassy brought with them four of 
the captives who had been carried off in the raid of the previous year 
on a Manipur village, and also an elephant tusk for the Maharajah 
Kikoul said that it was the intention of their Chief to return -ill 
the Manipur captives, but when asked by Colonel Mowbray .

( ’) Political Proceedings (India), August 1872, No. DO.
(’) Political Proceedings (India), November 1872, Nos. 100-104.



days he would ^ a p W ^  who were nduvned said that theyevasive replies. The four captive* wuo w t .  ^  ^

S t ^ W ^ ^ t o T b a d o , , ! ,  been « » H .t o a  ' g r t g f c

trrSSSr £r̂ ”‘ Si&
|i success, tor, m JA.cc • • ’ ,• 0f Manipur Naga tributaries
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and the following monk Kikoul brou h t ^ d  ^  , d  Thomsol,

but. stipulated that the son <' dead father made over to them,
released, and the skuU and bones °i m. ManiA  authorities, and in 
This ^  c-n  -W  w. h by ^  d Manipur,
S X T J i -  -leased then took their departure tor 

. t h l  Native bills! Tha Manipur Durbar bad boon very anxious to got 
V T a T\ e Bai ih of the Sooties, to come in from across the boundary 
2 d b S £ J r i i t t .  take tlie oath of allegiance to the M a ta ™  before 

I §  S a t u n g ’s son. Colonel Thomson dissuaded them from this,
a f  he tbmiLdtt such a proceeding might lead to a complication with 
Wuvma He told them that he could in no way recognise k  
• , ° ‘V. ' +b. Kamhow lUiah. After these exchanges of captives.
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tiding in the group of villages called Mombee, i

ed, according to Captain Pemberton and Colonel 
Thomson, is within Manipur territory and. has been encroached upon, M
and the former inhabitants driven out by the Kamhows. Mombee 

Y' is in fact well on the Manipur side of the boundary line laid down /•'
by the agreement of 1884 with Burma. The Maharajah of Manipur 
proposed to send an expedition against the Rainbows to punish 
thorn for this raid, and the Political Agent recommended that 
permission should be granted. The Chief Commissioner of Assam 
also thought that the Rajah should be allowed to take such measures 
in retaliation as he might deem expedient.^) l ie  considered that, 
for a State situated as Manipur is, a policy of retaliation was 
the only safe one. In reply the Government of India said that, 
shpdd there have been no provocation on the part of the subjects of 

, Manipur, the Rajah would be justified in adopting such measures as 
might be necessary to protect his own territories from similar raids 
in future j and, if retaliation was considered to be absolutely necessary, 
he should be advised to move in such strength• as would preclude the 
risk of defeat. The Political Agent recommended that the Govern­
ment of India should not identify itself with the expedition further 
than by limiting the Manipur advance to Mombee, and this was 
■approved.

The Maharajah accordingly organized an expedition 2,400 strong.
• . . . As it was expected that the Kamhows

1875 ajram?!. the would thf, politieai Agent
asked for sanction to accompany 

the expedition. This proposal was not acceded to by the Chief Com­
missioner of Assam on the ground that it would identify the Govern­
ment of India more emphatically than was advisable with the 
Maharajah’s proceedings. The Chief Commissioner's proceedings were • 
approved, and it was remarked that the Governor General in Council 
considered it advisable to avoid, as far as possible, any direct inter­
ference in the matter. The expedition started on the 19th February and 
returned on the 14th April 1875, The Majors who were in command 
reported the result of the expedition to Dr. Brown after their return.
They said that before sunset on the 20th March their advance guard, 
about 800 strong, was attacked by a party headed by Yatole’s brother 
and son. The Manipuri party made a good stand, and firing continued 
for an hour aud a half, when the Kamhows (led. The next morning the 
Majors and the main body of the force arrived on the ground. Pre­
parations for an attack on the Sootie villages were in progress, when a 
So,>tie deputation arrived in camp. They said that two of their men 
had been killed and five wounded on the previous evening. They 
placed Yatole’s sword before the Majors, acknowledged themselves to he 
the Maharajah's ryots, promised to pay tribute, and to abide by the 
terms imposed. They begged the Majors not to send the force (o their

( ')  Political Proceedings (India), February 1875, Nos. 16-57.



villages, so 2 subadars and 32 .sepoys only were sent',' *hd - .returned 
with the wife and child of the Chief of Kumsol, who had been captured 
in the raid. A few days after a deputation consisting of. Kakoul and a •

!  few others arrived with the Chief of Kumsol and .. six other captives. v
The remaining captives, it was said, had been sent into the interior, but . j -

the Booties promised to do what they could to get them hack.(1} I’)vu>. .■■■;
the evidence' of captives subsequently released, it, however, appears that. , *J
they were at Mombee all the time. The force then returned.to. Mam- . AS
pur, accompanied by the Sootie deputation. The Political Agent 
considered the result of the expedition to be fairly .successful^ though 
be was disappointed at no hostages having been brought in, I he 
Majors had been instructed to insist on hostages being given to be held : 
until the other captives, of whom there were said to he twelve, were , .....
restored. There were, however, live Sootio captives remaining m ’ 
Manipur, and the Sootie deputation were told they could not be | f  |
released unless an equivalent number of Manipur captives was ■
surrendered. In May seven of these captives were letuihed to , 
Manipur, and, in accordance with the promise given, the five Sootie 
captives in Manipur were set free. The Sootie messenger who brought 
the captives to Manipur said he was confident that the other captives 
they had Would also be given up. Ur- Crown, in referring to this 
expedition in his Administration Report for 1874-/ 5̂  stated that front 
past experience he was led to doubt the correctness ol the Majou. 

it ' account and made independent enquiry regarding the domgs of the J,
expedition. He found’ that, so far as his informants knew, some of • 
whom were with the force, not a shot was fired on Mom bee, each party 
seeming to be afraid of the other, and he remarked that the Sootier 
were not likely to be deterred from committing further raids on 

Ir: Manipur territory from auy fear of the Manipur troops.
For a short time after the expedition of i 875 no raids were r re­

mitted on Manipur by the Booties, ,
I f  Fu-tlier Kamhow raids on Manipur Terri- though attempts had been made, in

tory. one of which a Kamhow was killed. ■- t
The effect, of the expedition, however, was not much felt by them. In 
]876 the Political' Agent said they seemed to be becoming more aggres- ■. 
sive and arrogant than before ; the establishment of four new thamialia 

::l on that frontier had, however, in a great measure, prevented the
attempts at. raiding. Two Booties of Noongeah came to the Manipur 

/' village of Mungote and persuaded the Chief, named Bomyam, and two
men to accompany them to Nongeah to receive certain Manipur captives 
collected there, whose release had been promised by Kikoub When in 
the Sootie country the two men were deliberately shot by Kikoin and a 

: brother of Yatole named Khooding. Bomyam escaped, the musket
* aimed at him having missed fire. During the years 187(5, 1877, and .

1878 Sootie raids were frequent and numbers were reported killed on 
Jl*. both sides. The Political Agent reported that during the year 1876-77

( ')  Political Proceedings (India) B., June 1875, Nos. 1-4 'and 51-53.
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'H-; the condition of affairs between Manipur and the Booties had been in a ",l'$
“ most unsatisfactory state.” Matters had drifted, and no real attempt 

■; had been made to arrive at a satisfactory understanding. The Manipur • V ,
K , ■ diaries for 1877 and 1.873 contain frequent allusions to-Kamhow raids,

but it was doubtful whether the Kamhows are altogether to blame. In ‘t ;

May j S77, in referring to an attack on a Manipur village by Kamhows, 
of whom 2:2 were reported to have been killed, the Agent said be was V V
afraid that the origin of the raid was an attack made by Manipuri 
Kookies on peaceable Kamhows the previous month. A few days later n
be reported that live Kamhow heads had been brought into Manipur and * ,,jt
offered up, as is usual in such cases, in the hole* on the north 
side of the .Nursing Durwam, called “ Suroong,” to the presiding 

, deity. In January 1878 it was reported that the Kamhows bad , '
t< . attacked the KulS Valley in force, and that a Burmese force of 2,000

men had been sent against, them. Colonel Johnstone strongly urged on 
the Durbar the necessity of sending messengers to ask the Chiefs to 
come in and see him, but as two men who previously wont had been ‘t!
murdered, nobody liked to undertake the dangerous office.

In the Administration Report for 1877-78, a remarkable cireum- <•%’$
*i It, , i  . „  . Stance in connection with the Sootie ra

Migration of the Sootiea into Manipur. uibe and Manipur is recorded, j j
1 ; Parties to the number of over 2,000 persons belonging to the Sootiea

migrated during the year into Manipur territory, where they settled down f ’
on lands assigned to them by the Maharajah in the neighbourhood of 
M oirang, to the south-west of the valley. The Political Agent was visited 
by the Chiefs of the immigrants, who expect the number to be increased 

: this year. Colonel Johnstone considered this immigration important.
The "Booties, weakened by the loss of 2,000 of their number, and with 
the early prospect of losing more, will-be less formidable to Manipur.
The new comers are mostly not actually of the Sootie tribe, but are ;
reported to belong to a Iielot race living in villages of their own among 
the Sooties. Their object in leaving their country was simply to find a 
place where they might live in peace and security.

In 1 Sol when the Kubo Valley was ceded to Burma, the eastern
and a small portion of the southern 

Position of the Sooties with regard to boundary of Manipur was laid down.
It is in connection with this small .

portion of the southern boundary that the question is raised of the posi­
tion of the Kamhows with regard to Burma. According to the Treaty 
of 183-1 ceding the Kubo Valley to Burma the southern boundary of 
Manipur from the east begins at the point where the nver called by the 
Burmans Nansawing, and by the Manipuris Nutnsaulung, enters the plain, . •Jjjjhj
uji to its sources and across the hills due west down to the Koihi Khyoung 
(Manipur River). Captain Pemberton, in his report, dated 19th April

aaftfe- ----------- ---------------------------------------- ----------    vfiSjPi
* This hole if most sacred, and it is said that few Manipuris even are allowed to see it f
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B
. this ivorth-east .mnsrrmt. or. besuai,.

it the Numsaulung River appeared to have been always 
he Burmese as the northern limit of the Rule Rajah’s 
it direction. This accounts for the N amsaulung forming 
mndary of the northern divisions of the Kabo Valley, 
erton does not, however, explain why the line was ex- 
e sources of the Nurasaolung westward to the Manipnr 
Rules Rajah’s territory does not extend so far in that 
ine drawn from the sources of the Numsaulung due west 
• River passes through the northern portion of the country 
bited by the Sooties, Thus, according to the boundary 
laptain Pemberton, contained in the Treaty of l 83 t, part . 
tribe at present live in Manipur and part in Burmese ei­

ther 1872, Colonel Mowbray Thomson, the Officiating 
t, reported that, from an examination of Pemberton’s 
ready of 1834, he considered that the country inhabited 
clearly belonged to Burma, and that, in his opinion, the 

1 no right to make war in that direction, but that, 
or injured by the Sooties, they shook; refer their 
the Burmese Government through the Government 

j considered the fact of the Sooties inhabiting Mombee 
ages nearer Manipur to be an encroachment, though. 
Manipuris treated the encroachment very lightly, 

intention of immediately resorting to arms to expel 
truth was,. Colonel Thomson said, the Maharajah’s sepoys 

ht for him, for they knew they had nothing to gain in 
At this time the Sooties were treating with Manipur 

ion of captives, and as Colonel Thomson looked upon 
nose subjects, he said that it placed him in an awkward 
irty of 400 of the Kamhows had approached within 
die Manipur stockade at Kumah and had told Tanga! 
y had come there to treat with him and him only, 
however, feared treachery, and refused to go. He asked.

into the stockade and there treat with the officer he 
this they refused to do. Until instructions Were received, 
on said he would not allow Manipur to strike the first 

event of the Burmese ignoring their control of the 
submitted for consideration the question how Manipur 
He said the Maharajah would well weigh the eonse- 
uother attack on the tribe, after having been so 
•rated by them in 1857. Mr. Edgar, Deputy Com- 
lachar, who was consulted, said there was not much 
f Colonel Thompson’s letter, except that the Maui- 
,nd probably the Chief himself, were " determined to 
ould to avoid a peaceful settlement of their disputes 
.” He thought that " if they were to try honestly to

Political Proceedings (India), January 1873, Nw. 442-47.
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make terms with the Sooties, they might be successful, for the latter 
have shown a desire to avoid fighting, which could scarcely have been 
expected after the way in which they were treated by the Manipuris 
during the Lushai expedition.” He finally recommended that the 
peace on the frontier should not be disturbed. The Government of 
Bengal also deprecated fighting' between Manipur and its border tribes, 
as such collisions always created an uneasy feeling in the hills. Should 
lighting actually take place, the Lieutenant-Governor thought our only 
course could be f- one of absolute non-interference.” The following is 
a copy of the orders passed by the Government of India in Foreign 
Department letter No. d 16P., dated 130th January 1873 :—

I am to state that His Excellency the Viceroy and Governor General in Conned 
approves of your endeavours to effect an amicable settlement ol‘ the quarrel between 
Manipur and the Sooktees, and desires that you will continue to advocate a surrender by 
both parties of their prisoners and captives, so as to bring about a good understanding.

His Excellency in Council secs no objections to the Maharaja of Manipur building ■
stockades within his frontier and taking other reasonable precautions for frontier defence.
Hut His Highness should bo careful to require his frontier posts to act only .m the 
defensive and not to vex the tribes beyond the border, or give provocation for their 
attacking Manipur territory.

His Highness the Maharaja should understand that any unprovoked hostilities 
with tribes beyond his boundary may involve him in difficulties with BurmaU, ami will 
not receive (he approval of the British Government. In the event of such hostiiit-e* 
breaking out, you should report the fact at. once, and, pending the arrival of instructions 
from the Government of India, abstain from all interference other than friendly advice.
His Excellency in Council however, is sanguine that by the exercise of the judicious 
indueune you have already exerted with si good effect, you may be able not . ■ ly to prevent 
air,' outbreak, but probably also to arrange an amicable settlement of the causes of 
misunderstanding.

So far as our records show, the Burmese Government do not 
appear ever to have exercised any control over the Sooties to the south 
of the Manipur boundary line. The whole tribe seems to be practically 
independent, and not to have been affected at all by the Treaty of 
1834. Though a fine was drawn westwards from the source o' the 
Numsahlung to the Kathe Khyouug, there is no mention in the Treaty 
of the territory south of this line having been made over to Burma.
It was only the Kabo Valley which the Burmese Government asked
for, and that was all that was made over. In Captain Pemberton’s
report of his proceedings in handing over the Kubo Valley and ; f;
laying down the boundary, the only mention be makes of this line is
the following^:-—

He (the Khnmbat. Woon) questioned us very particularly as to our intentions 
regarding the southern line of boundary, which was formed by the Numwudung River.
Tho Burmese had evidently thought tin t we intended to run this line directly across 
from the hills on the west, to the Ningthee Iliver, and were much pleased to find that 
ws had no- such wish, and, on the contrary, that it was to run due west from the foot of 
the hilts down to t,be Manipur River, where it would terminate. At their request we 
consumed to omit'the Same of the Kbyendwon or Ningtbee I liver, which had been 
inserted with the view of rendering our intentions more clear.
No .Burmese officers appear to have ever taken charge of this tract of 
territory under the fifth Article of the Treaty, and the Burmese and
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•Manipuris alike appear to have treated the Sooties, as wild and hostile 
:r ' tribes not amenable to their authority. They committed a raid on

villages in the Kubo Valley subject to the Burmese in 1856, at the 
same time that they committed the raid in Manipur territory for which 
the Manipur expedition of 1857 was sent against them (paragraph ?.& 
of the precis) (. y) The Gendat Woon com,plained to the Political Agent 

: regarding the raid, as he believed the raiders came from villages in 
Manipur territory. In the Administration Report for 1872-73 Dr.

' Brown said that "the frontier Burmese authorities generally repudiate
[% ' the idea of their being under Burmese control, although they lie

'«•/* unraistakeahly to the eastward of the Manipur i •oundary” (they do not,
however, lie to the eastward, but to the south of the Manipur boun­
dary), and in the Report for 1878-74 he says that, in the event of any 
realized or threatened disturbances by the Kamhows, the Burmese 

; invariably make the matter one of complaint against the Manipur 
State, assuming that State to be responsible for their good behaviour.
He adds that for all practical purpores this tribe should be considered

I  as independent, and liable to punishment from either power it raids 
upon. There is, however, no definite information among our records 
regarding the Burmese complaints referred to by Dr. Brown. (*) In a 
letter dated 30th January 1872 from General Bouehier, to General 
Nuthall, it is said that the Burmese authorities complained against the 
ravages of the Sooties in 1871, and in a letter from General Nutball to 
the Maharajah of Manipur, dated 16th April 1872, he says:—" Not !«§g 
ago the Burma authorities complained of the ravages committed bv his . 
(Kamhow’s) dependants upon the village of Beetoop, in the Kubo 
Valley." General Bourcliier and General Nutball doubtless referred to 
the same complaint. Paragraph 114 of this precis gives an account of 
the attack on the village of Beetoop, a reference to which will 
show that it is not so very dear that the Burmese authorities 
complained against the Kamhows. It was a complaint against 
Manipur Nagas, “ assisted by ten Nagas of the mountain, range.'" 
Assuming that the ten Nagas referred to were Kamhows, it is 
very probable that they belonged to the Kamhow villages within 
the Manipur boundary, and hence the Burmese complaint. There is 
nothing to show that the Burmese ever complained of raids com­
mitted by the Kamhow tribe living beyond tlie Manipur boundary, 
i'rom Captain Pemberton’s map published in 1885, and a demi-official 
letter to the Chief Secretary to Government, dated 9th September 
1828, he believed that the Kamhows were tributary to Kule, and had 
continued so for many years. Captain Pemberton had not, however, 
visited this part of the country, for in the same letter he said he had

(’) Foreign Consultations, 15th February 1856, No. 112. .
Foreign Consultations, 18th February 1857, No. 181.

(•) Political Proceedings (India), August 3 872, No. 85. |
Political Proceedings (India), August 1872, No. 86, . - vt.ll
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not been able to go so fur south.(l) In 1856, Colonel McCulloch said 
rhe south-eastern portion of Manipur territory had never been explored, fig : 

y- and that the Manipur authorities had never tried to bring- the tribes rfL* $
inhabiting it into subjection.

Colonel Johnstone repoi ted in 1878 that the Maharajah was anxious
to be allowed to subdue the Booties, ‘ ’ '.M&l'£

Proposal to make the Sooties tributary hrrt acknowledged that.lie. cannot • tt
, , a i aniprn. do so without assistance in arum y  |

and ammunition. Were t-lie Sooties made, tributary to Manipur, “ that 1,
State would touch on the Chittagong Hill Tracts, and would border 
the Kuh? Valley (Burmese), but would not interfere with Burma. It ,
is asserted in Manipur that the Burmese would be glad to see the 
Sooties subdued, a.s they are a terror to the Rule people.” It is, v
however, doubtful whether the Kamhow tribe extends so far south as ' *
the Chittangong IT ill Tracts. According to Mr. Edgar only the north- 

■v, east portion o£ what is generally termed the Lusiia i country is in- / mm's
habited by the Kamhows.('2) To the south-east of the Lushais proper 
there are villages of different tribes called Pois by the Lushais. “ These v ' ' 
northern Pols are said not to be Lakhayr Pois (Sindhus), but probably 
they are closely connected with them.” Colonel Johnstone stated that iVy
the Lushais had offered assistance in ease the Maharajah, wished to 
attack the Sooties then-deadly enemies. He considered that, if the 1 ( 4’
Maharajah's surmise as to the feeling of the Burmese on the subject is 
correct, it would be greatly to our advantage to annex the Sootie 
country and thus secure peace. He said—

Tlie cost to iii would be small, and through him we should ho a)>le more effectually 
io coerce tho Eastern Lushais, if at any time necessary, as they, with their western 
brethren, would then lie completely hemmed iu between us aud our feudatories.

At present- me are not directly concerned with the Sooties, but wo may be twenty ■
years hence, and timely, and to u? iuexpeusivo action now, may save trouble and money
n. the future.

The Government of India is not in favour of aggressive action of 
the kind suggested.

The Kubo Valley lies between the Heerok or Yoma range of 
.... , , r ,, , , _ . • . . .  mountains, which bounds the eastern

.Frontier. side or the Manipur \  alley, and s#®®?
Ningthec or Kyendwen River.(a) It . ft-iM pi 

commences from tlie foot of the hills in latitude 24° 80' north and 
extends south to 22° 30', where it terminates on the left bank of the 
Kath6 Rhyonng, or Manipur river, which falls into the Ningthee, and 
marks the southern limit of the Rule Raja's territory. The Valley

(l) Consultations, 3rd October 1838, No. 1. Extracts from correspondence regarding 
cession of Kubo Valley.

f j  . Foreign Consultations, 15th February 1856, No. 113.
Consultations, 8th January 183o, No. 36.

(a) Memorandum by Mr. Edgar, dated 9tli March 1871, p. 23. 
fl'-i (*) Pemberton’s Report on the Eastern Frontier, pp. 116-117.
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principalities, viz., Sum jolt, Kumbat, arid Knits.
> still governed by descendants of the original 
re re dependant upon Mongnaaorong, but 1' in hat 
•egained its former prosperity, after its destruo- 
’orces of Fong and Manipur; and duung the 
their principal officer on this frontier derived .
| ,!bt Tumraoo was always ins place or residence, 

of the military force of the province." The 
independent, the northern and middle po, lions 
ah titled the Rajah of Surn j.R (the name of the 
resides), whose Raj is hereditary in hie family., 
the TsauWa (Feudatory Chief) of I oungthwofc 
rmese Government, Before the first Burmese 
middle divisions contained a population <d about 
I’he southern portion is ruled by the Rule l..a;]uh 
n the territories of the two Chiefs being the 
in olden times the Kubo Valley was sometimes 
netimes under Burma. It  was in the possession 
tbreak of the first Burmese war, and had been 
sforo. Fox' about the same period preceding^tuese 
>n in the possession of Manipur. In the Tieaty 
• and middle portions of the Kubo Valley were 
imnese. On the other hand, though they wete • 
Chief of Manipur, during the war, they were 

e Treaty. In fact no mention whatever is made 
in the Treaty of Yandahoo. With regard to 
simply Stipulated that " should Gumhbeer Sing*. * . 

ihafc countryyiie shall be recognized by the King 
of.” Nothing was mentioned about the boundary 
Burma. The Government of India considered 

r that all the places ami territory in the ancient 
which were in possession of Gumhbeer Sing 

ling of the Treaty of Yandahoo, should belong 
Surnjok and Kumbat .Divisions of the Kubo 

he Ningthee or Kyendwen River, were accordingly 
ud the Ningthee River formed the boundary 
ries.
iraia to the Kubo Valley became a subject of 

„ . ,. dispute from the signing of the
M e n g h t  T of Yandaboo in Fein nary

“ ey‘ 1826 The Commissioner in Sylbet,
April 1826, remarked that the Ningthee was no 
natural boundary between Manipur and Burma, 

icse were permitted to cross it, it would be difficult 
emarcation that would preclude the possibility of 
knowledging this letter the Government of India

ri' v  h ' C.'-;.:
ile that the River Ningthee should form henceforward, as it did 
u Ava and Manipur, and Gutubheer Sing having been in
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possession of Purgunnah Kubo when the Treaty was signed, we are fairly to
1 require the relinquishment of that integral
Instructions to Commissioner in Sjliet, dated ,ln(j material portion of his (the King’s) Baj.

23rd June l«». still, however, if the point is oftntested by the ? i
Burmese on the ground of the pergtmnak having been formally annexed to tho territories 
of Ava for some years prior to the war, whilst no provision it made by the treaty for any . /
alteration in the existing boundaries of the Raj, the question must be settled by aogotm* 
tion mi the best terms that circumstances v -ill permit.
Arid iu the instructions to the Envoy nt Ava, dated 30th June 1326, 
it was said that His Lordship in Council trusted that as the Burmese 
retreated from the Kubo District and retired beyond the Ningthee, he 
would succeed in establishing that river as the boundary. In the in- 
structions to Major-General Sir A. Campbell, dated 15th June 1327,

■ it was said that His Excellency in Council was decidedly of opinion that 
the right of Gumpbeer Sing should bo maintained to the northern and 
middle portions of the Kubo Valley, bounded on the east by the
Ningthee. It was also said that he would not have failed to observe that 
the acquisition of Kul& the southern portion of the valley, would secure 
the marked and desirable boundary of the Nurinjeeruh River. The 
cession by the Burmese of this portion of the Valley, however, it was 
said, could not be reasonably expected, and its annexation to Manipur 
would, therefore, have to become a subject of negotiation. In .February 
1*27 the question of the boundary was discussed between the Burmese 
Ministers and Mr. Crawford, the British Envoy.(l ) The Burmese claims 
were so extravagant that, if acceded to, Gumbheer Sing would have 
been deprived of what he considered the larger portion of the proper 
principality of Manipur ; they bad fabricated a map showing the 

Igt Burmese frontier to extend, nearly to the Manipur capital.
Captain Grant and Lieutenant Pemberton wore appointed Commis­

sioners to meet the Burmese authorities and settle the boundary in 
accordance with tin principles enunciated by the Government of India, 
and they were told ft) that, as a preliminary measure, it would be proper 
to suggest to Gumbheer Sing to fix his posts on such line to the south­
ward as would include the northern and central districts of the 
Kubo Valley, regarding his right to which, by actual conquest, no , ':
discussion was to be allowed. In April 1828 the Commissioners 
met on the banks of the Ningthee or K.yendwen River, but little j

Jr could be clone in consequence of the very advanced state of the -
season, and the Burmese Commissioner proposed to postpone it 
Until the ensuing year. A regular written engagement was made by 
the Commissioners on both sides to meet in 1829. The Burmese Cora- 

J  missioners then pretended that the Ningthee was not the Kyendwen, 
but a river to the westward of the Kubo Valley. (•’) This, Sir A.

11 >■- .....-..- - — - —------------------------------ -—---------------------- ...----------------- . ► (i vjildfn
jyjV'-V ( l) Despatch from Mr. Crawford, dated 21st February 1827.

(») Instructions to Commissioner in Sylhet dated 23rd November 1827.
(*) Consultations, 8th August 1828, No. 4.

Consultations, 8th August 1828, No. 10,
. Consultations, 8th September 1828, No. 2.

Consultations, 3rd October 1828, No. 1. 
aalh .... Consultations, 7th February 1820.

Coimsit.itions, 7th February 1829, Nos. 3-7.
Consultations, 19th dune 1829, No. 10.
Consultations, 10th July 1829, No. 28.
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>11 observed, might alter the decision of Government. _ Subset 
, a Burmese map was transmitted to Calcutta, in which the 
ee and Kyendwen were laid down as separate rivers. This map 
t to the British Commissioners in Manipur, with instructions-to 
and report 'whether any such river as that laid down on it as the 
ee existed. It was observed to them that the map had probably 
ade to suit the views of the Burmese, and they were instructed 
we to the Burmese Commissioners when they met them in the 
■ cold weather to visit the large river said to exist to the west- 

the Kubo 'Valley.. In the improbable event of the Nirjgthee 
to the westward of the Kubo Valley, the British Coinrnis-' 

were called on. for their opinion whether the Burmese establish- 
mselves in the upper and twiddle divisions of Kubo would be 

particularly objectionable. In their reply these officers clearly proved ' ; 
the deception attempted-to be practised by the Burmese. Lieutenant 
Pemberton scouted the idea that the Ningtheo had been mistaken for 
another small river as stated by the Burmese. In a private fetter to 
the Commissioner in Sylhet he remarked, “ you may depend on it the
Burmans knew as well as ourselves that the K vend wen was the river to
be made the boundary, and no other. Sir A. Campbell expressly told 
them so, and in consequence of a representation to that effect they pre­
vented their men from crossing the river into the Kubo Valley.” In : 
reply to the enquiry whether the establishment of the Burmese in the 
upper and m iddle divisions of Kubo would be particularly objection­
able, both officers expressed bheiv unqualified opinion that the preserva­

tion. fcion of the tranquillity then existing could not he insured were the 
Burmese allowed to re-establish their authority there. They said—

A century of aggression n the one part, and of suffering on the other, has ; 
excited a reeling of mutual hatred, at all times prompt to evince itself in the extremity of 
vengeance The chance of such a collision, which could not fail to be productive of the 
most lamentable consequences, is effectually obviated by making the Ningthee or

!
Kvend»ven on which stands the Uurmah post of Kintal, the boundary between the States 
of A- a and* Manipur j no aggression can under such an arrangement be easily committed 
by either party, without, crossing the river lor the purpose—an act which would suffice to 
establish the culpability of the aggressor.

The report of the British Commissioners was sent to Major-Genera!
Sir A. Campbell in October 1828, who was directed to inform the 
Court "of Ava that the British Commissioners were prepared to prove 
that the Ningthee and Ky end wen were the same river. He was also 
requested to repeat the intimation previously conveyed to the Court of 
Ava respecting the right of Gumbheer Sing to the northern and central 
districts of the Kubo Valley, which he had continued to hold since 
the war.

In January 1829 the British Commissioners reported the receipt 
of a letter from the Burmese Governors on the Ningthee, stating that 
the proposed meeting of the Commissioners for the settlement of the 

j" boundary could not take place that year. They stated at the same time
■i their intention.to proceed to the Ningthee to be in readiness to meet the

Barman Commissioners. The Burmese Government also informed the 
'■ 1 Government of India that their Commissioners were busy collecting

money to pay the third instalment of the war indemnity and celebrating'
m  S ^ M



festivals and ft ail'd not come. Captains Grant and Pemberton were, G
however, directed to proceed to the banks of the Ningthee, and in the
event of the Burmese Commissioners foiling to meet them, to select at r ij
once the boundary line to the northward of the Kule or southern dis- ’
trick of Kabo, which it might be desirable to fix as the southern
boundary of Gumbheer Sing’s dominions in that quarter, including ‘ ■»,?
only the country re-conquered by him, and from which the Burmese had
been expelled during the war. Having made a sketch of the boundary,
they were directed to transmit a copy of it to the Burmese authorities $;■
with a distinct declaration that, under the orders of the British Govern- •■■$!>>}
ment, they had fixed the boundary of Gumbheer Sing’s territory to the
southward, the Ningthee being the boundary to the eastward. Sir A.
Campbell was at the same time instructed to apprise the Court of Avn 
of the orders issued to the British Commissioners. The Burmese Com­
missioners having failed to keep their engagement, our Comir.issiouers f «
fixed the boundary in accordance with the instructions they;received,

1 1 and they were informed that the boundary selected by them appeared 
to.be well chosen, and that much advantage would be derived hereafter 
from the assumption of it as the basis of their settlement in concern ’
with the Burmese Commissioners, who were invited to meet them on * J
the frontier in January 1K30. In the event of the Burmese Coin mis- frg
sioners not meeting them in January 1880, they were authorised to fix 
Manipur thanuahs on certain places indicated on the sketch of the 

’■ boundary without further reference to the Burmese authorities.
On 10th July H29, the Chief Secretary to Government addressed 

a letter to the Burmese Ministers, in which he referred to the com­
munications made to the local Burmese authorities by the British 
Commissioners, and observed that, when the Burmese Commissioners 
should meet the English officers, they would be satisfied that the 
country to the northward of the boundary line had been clearly and 
uninterruptedly in the possession of Gumbheer Sing since the con­
clusion of the Treaty of Peace, and that nothing would remain but to $

■ e -visit the spot together and fix the posts on-each side of the boundary, so . ■ MV.; 
that in future no doubt or dispute might arise. On the 17th Novem­
ber 1829 Captain Grant, and Lieutenant, Pemberton reported that the ■
Burmese Commissioners had announced their intention to meet them in >
January following. They called the attention of Government to the 
fact of the Burmese Government having found it necessary to change
the nature of its objections to Rajah Gumbheer Sing’s claim ; they no 
longer denied the fact of the re-conquest of Knbo, but said that the i i
retention of those territories recovered by the. British armies formed no "yit<
part, of the Treaty of Yandaboo. They added :—“ Peeling the justice of '
our claims, we have not hesitated to follow the line of defence the 
Burmese have chosen, and the fact of three of the Thannahdars bcin<- 
at this moment here, who in the reign of Cheroojeet Sing held that 
situation in Kubo, must, we think, silence any further objection on the 
subject of possession anterior to the war.” With the same despatch the 

■. , British Commissioners forwarded a letter from the Ministers at Ava y '/y
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to the British Government, in reply to the Chief Secretary's letter of 
iOtJh July 1829, maintaining the right of the Burmese Government no. 
the Kubo Valley as a dependency of the Bnrman Crown.

In January 1880 Major .Burney was appointed Resident at Ava 
in conformity with the 7th Article of the Treaty of Yandaboo, stipu­
lating for the permanent residence of a British officer at the Court of 
Ava^1) In paragraph 7 of his instructions he was informed of the 

/  ■ determination of Government to fix the boundary line between Manipur
and Ava as laid down by Captain Grant and Lieutenant Pemberton.
He was told to repeat to the Burmese Ministers the motives which 
obliged Government to assume a boundary line, and to satisfy them 
tbat it was not our intention to go beyond such line, though the argu­
ments contained in their last letter would justify our considering several

[

places to the southward of it as belonging to the ancient territory of 
Manipur. He was also to encourage the Burmese to depute Commis­
sioners to meet our officers on the frontier, and thus ascertain for /  ' 
themselves the incorrectness of their map which contained a river that 
had no existence in reality. He was also furnished with a letter to the 
Burmese Ministers from the Chief Secretary to Government, in which 
it was distinctly stated :—

"What places and territory in the ancient country of Manipur vrere in possession of 
Gumbheer Sing at the date of the signing of the Treaty of Yandaboo, the Governor 
General of British India considers it but just and proper that all those should still 
belong to that Chief. When the British Officers in Manipur prove to the Burmese 
Officers on the frontier by living witnesses and by undoubted testimony that so late as 
tbo years 1809-10 or 11 the towns of Khambat, Woktong, Turn moo, M urge* and Sumjok, 
comprising the whole extent of the Kubo Valley from' Khambot, north, were hold by 
Jtanipuri Thamtnhdars on the part of the Manipuri Baja Oh< roojeet Bing, the Governor 
General of British India trusts that the King of Ava wrll perceive the propriety and 
advantage of putting an end to all further discussions on this subject.

The Commissioners of both Governments met on the frontier in 
January 1880 as arranged. The Burmese acknowledged the incorrect­
ness of their map, and the boundary was fixed, though the Burmese 
Commissioners would not consent to the renunciation, of the territory.
The Resident at Ava then suggested that Captain Pemberton might be 
authorized to join him at Ava, so that he might hear what the Minis­
ters had to say against Gumbheer Sing's claim, though he said he was 
convinced that no friendly means or argument would ever be successful 
in persuading the Ring to acknowledge Gumbheer Sing’s right to the 
valley of Kubo. Captain Pemberton proceeded to Ava, but. as was 
anticipated, no arguments or explanations which Major Burney could 
urge, even with the aid of Captain Pemberton, effected any change in 
the sentiments of the Ministers, and the question still remained for the 
final decision of the Governor General. Captain Pemberton’s presence,

(') Consultations, 8th January 1830, Nos. 19-23.
Consultations, 8th January 1830, No. 32.
Consultations, 8tb January 1830, No. 36.
Consultations, 20th January 1831, No. 6.
Consultations, 18th March 1631, No. 15.
Secret Consultations, 21st May 1832,
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however, enabled Major Burney to convince the Burmese Ministers of 
the inaccuracy or untruth of several assertions winch they had before 
advanced. They had denied that the Kubo Valley had ever been ,
taken by the Manipur troops during- the war, which they then admit-

J./ ted. They had declared positively that at no former period had the
Manipur Princes ever exercised authority in it, but, they then admittec p

V that it had at various periods been in possession of Manipur. I hoy 
acknowledged the incorrectness of their map shov ing the Kyendwcn 
and the Ningthee as distinct rivers, and admitted them to be the same.
They had asserted that Sir A. Campbell at the Treaty of Yandaboo had

| |  recognized and acknowledged their right to K ubo, but were unable to
prove it, and met Captain Pemberton's proof that he did not do so by a 
silent acquiescence. They, however, produced extracts from their 
national records (which were believed to be genuine) showing that at 
different times they overran and conquered certain portions of territory 
on the eastern and western hanks of the Ningthee.

!y  In a letter dated 15th December 1830, the Resident at Ava
, reported that he hud hinted that

Burma*0* JKubo Valloy ^ the British Government might be ' 11 |
disposed to give up a portion of the ' M

remaining instalment of tribute for the sake of fixing the Ningthee as 
the boundary. The Ministers wore inclined to listen to the proposal as 
advantageous to Ava, blit they did not dare even to mention it to the 
King, who felt the loss of a single foot of land as a diminution of his 
own consequence and power. In May 1881 Major Burney expressed his 
opinion that no plan existed for appeasing, in an amicable manner, _ the 
King’s mind on the subject of Kubo, and that there would be little 
advantage derived from th© permanent residence of a British Officer at 
Ava till the question was properly settled. In April of the following 
year Major Burney informed Government that as they wished to estab-

S lish the Ningthee as the eastern boundary of Manipur, to accomplish 
which object was one of the principal points of his instructions when 
deputed to Ava, he had used his best endeavours to discover how Ibis i

could he accomplished, and to reconcile the Burmese Government to 
this boundary. He had, however, failed entirely. He said that his i

1 own opinion had always been in favour of the abstract right of the 
V, Burmese, and that views of expediency only, founded on an appre­

hension that Ava might advance other claims, as welt as the circum- ASM
S; stance that the British officers in Manipur considered the Ningthee as

the most eligible boundary, made him question the policy of such right, 
lie  questioned whether “ keeping Gumbheer Sing in possession of an 
unhealthy and depopulated strip of territory which is divided from 
Mahipur by a range of hills, and with which our officers even cannot 
communicate without being always attended by large parties of coolies 
to convey every necessary of life for their subsistence, is worth the 
risk of' thoroughly disgusting the Court of Ava and accelerating 
another war.” In reply to this letter Major Burney was called upon
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stinctly the grounds on which he thought that the Govern- 
n  possessed a right to those portions of the Kubo Valley 
h the Burmese had been expelled during the war, and. in 
British Government had declared that the authority of Rajah 
Sing must be upheld. To this Major Burney submitted a 
;>ly, in which he detailed, the grounds on winch he formed 
, showing the various times which, according to the Burmese 
other proofs, Kubo had belonged to Burma during tlio 

00 years. The matter was then fully considered by the 
t of India. The undeniable facts of the case wore that 
onquered the disputed territory during the war; that 
12 years previous the territory was in possession of Ava ; 
bout the same period preceding those 12 years it was iu 

rue possession of Manipur; and that at more remote periods, extending 
far hack into past times, it was sometimes under the one and sometimes 
under the other of those powers. The question was whether, at the 

iv close of the Burmese war, that territory was to be considered aw
forming undoubtedly a part of Manipur, or as a part of the domi­
nions of Ava in consequence of its having been so at the commence­
ment of the war. The Governor General remarked on the case that 
though no satisfactory opinion could be formed upon the question, he 

d thought., upon the whole, that Government was warranted in its first
decision that the Ningthoe should be the boundary between Ava and 
Manipur. He said,—

HR, . «< But although the consideration, already stated, namely, the misinterpretation thattH ,;
V i conceit of the Burmese may put upon the eouoession to their own prejudice, and the mom

reasonable ground of dissatisfaction that will bo given to Gumhhwr Sing, might forbid 
■mil any change, yet, with reference to the anxious desire for Kubo expressed by the Govern*
A - : meet of Ava. to tlie humiliation of their pride and to their reduced if not extinguished v
» # ?  power, I think it will be both generous and expedient to grant them this gratification. I t  g m
S B  is true that wo give up the host boundary lino, and the admission of the Burmese into the

volley may tend to much more collision w ith the Manlpuris, but with our superior power 
a better or worse military boundary is of no oonsequettoe whatever, and these boundary 

| h‘ ' . disputes iE arising oan lead to no war,"

The following were the final orders of Government on the subject, 
jtl contained in a letter to the Resident at Ava, dated 16th March.

1833 :—
On vonr return to Ava you will announce to tho King that the Snpreme Government 

still adheres to tire opinion that the Ningthee formed the proper boundary between Ava 
and Manipur, but that, in consideration for His Majtsty’s feelings and wishes, and in tho 
spirit of araitv and good-will subsisting between the two countries, the Supreme Govern* 
moot consents to the restoration of the Kubo Valley to Ava and to the establishment of 
the boundary line, at the foot of the Toma Doung Hills.

You will further apprise His Majesty that the exact line must be established by Com*.
:t; missiouers on the part of the British Government, who will proceed to the ironnervn

November next, when the Kubo Valioy will be given up to such Commissioner as H is 
: . Majesty may appoint.

The Burmese Government were also informed by the Government 
of India, and they were requested to depute, in November 1833, two



officers of lank to meet two British, officers, who would deliver over to 
the Burmese the towns of Kbumhat, Tuoiinon, Thongthwot, “ and 
fix and point out the line of hills which maj bo selected a; the future 
boundary between Ava and Manipur.” ItUvas said that the eastern 
foot of the hills known in Manipur as the Mitring hills and supposed 
to be the same as that called by the Burmese Yotna Doung, would form 
» good lino of demarcation between the possessions of the two States.

, Captain Pemberton was at the same time directed to proceed to the ’
Bubo Valley in November, in company with Captain Grant, to make 
.it over to the Burmese. Captain Pemberton’s instructions arc important 
as showing the right asserted at the time by the British. Govern- • *
merit to fix the boundary and not to allow the Burmese Gov- ! ,
eminent to interfere at all in the matter. The instructions were as 

H  follows.... ij-.v
Karlv in the month of November you will proceed in company with Captain (Jr.nt 

, . in the direction of the Kubo Volley, hiking with you any officer whom Gumbheer Sing 
may wish to depute. You will there he met by Commissioners on the pert of the King 
of Ava to whom you will audre over the Kubo Valley. These functionaries will probably 
he aooompamod by Captain Matfarquhar, bin. they will bo given distinctly to understand 
that, they are not to interfere at all in the settlement of the boundary, which is to bo lixed 

'■I' by yourself and Captain Grant, taking the eastern base of the Muring range of .hills as : '"'oi
tile line of demarcation. You will further point out to the Burmese Commissioners the S B I
line of demarcation which you may tix os the boundaries to the north and south of the '

j | Ilubo Valley,

f e y  When the Commissioners met, the Burmese claimed the Muring 'fA
lulls, as the Yoma Doung range was a little to the westward of them.
The British Commissioners, in order to terminate the discussion, 
tendered a copy of that part of their instructions above quoted, debar­
ring the Burmese Commissioners from interfering. The Woondouk 
was told that the cession of the Kubo Valley was a favour, for which 
the British Government had consented to make compensation to the 
Rajah of Manipur, and that if he did uot agree to the line of boundary 
laid down by the British Commissioners, they could not, under the 
instructions they bad received, consent to give up any of the territory, 
but would leave the Manipur Thannahs on the Ningthee just as they 
stood. This greatly embarrassed the Woondouk, and he begged hard 

j , for a delay of 13 days to enable him to represent the matter to Ava; ’ '■■fm
he even solicited the aid of the Manipur officers in obtaining the re- falJil 
q aired delay, but the British Commissioners firmly expressed their in­
ability to consent to the postponement. The Woondouk objected to 

I f v, . the Manipur Thannah of Moreh being so close upon Burmese territory, ffi!
and expressed a desire that it should be removed to some more distant 
spot, as quarrels were likely to arise from the inconsiderate conduct of 
the people there. He was told that as Moreh was on the Manipur side 
of the line, the Rajah had as much right to establish a thannah there as 
the Burmese had to establish one at Tumrnoo. The Woondouk was also 
anxious that the tribes occupying the eastern face of the hills between fi?
Manipur and Kubo should be called and examined in his presence as J.
to their desire of living under the Burma or Manipur rule, but this

:* V.- ’ A ■ i : , ' .. * . A* A:. •
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was refused on the grounds that, it would be a direct infringement of 
the orders of Government expressly prohibiting* the Burmese from-ever 
interfering' with these Khyens, but it was added “ that if hereafter any 
inhabitants of these hills chose to ran away and seek Burmese protec­
tion, they would not be demanded, but that if any Burmese Agenis 
were detected tampering with their fidelity, they would he liable to arty

8  punishment, however extreme, which the Manipur! officers might inflict j|
upon them/' To the justice of this he assented. After another re*

;; quest for delay by the Woondouk, which was not granted, Captain
Pemberton drew up the agreement A Burmese translation was made 
for the Woondouk’s perusal, but he objected to it and prepared another 
in Burmese form containing many objectionable passages. To this 
agreement the British Commissioners objected. The Manipuri inter­
preter declared that die Woondouk would never sign the agreement 
drawn up by the Commissioners as it was »ot according to Burmese 
form. Captain Pemberton remarked that “ the reply to this was evi- 
dent, the paper was ours, and in accordance with oar forms, and that if 
the Woondouk refused to receive aud sign such a document as we should 
tender to him, we would not surrender possession of the country.”
The boundary waa then laid down, and the agreement defining the 
boundaries signed as originally prepared, with some trifling alterations.
The Burmese Commissioners added a note to the effect that the Burmese 
Ministers would address the British Government regarding the small 
strip of country between the eastern base of the Yoirn Doung range 
and the Muring hills which they had expected to get. The Court of 
Ava, however, formally acquiesced in the boundary laid down, aud so 
the matter then ended.

The following is the English version of the agreement, with trans- 
Ur"'' lations of the Burmese version

■' ''".Il 1 ) ( z ) ( » )
T M B U i m s  w  i  im s s C M P t  o *  E i i w u i  t r a n s l a t io n  o f  t u b  

TO*  B tn u n s *  n » n w ,  b t  B o n u a *  v e r s io n , m Ch j v e d  
u t r u u n  . Fusion. M u o M i m a u i  JtiratAT.x, mo*, t a *  Ch i** O o im m -i fii

Ona.Sonu.Agmt,Murirm. sioskh, Buxom Mum*. "f;
Con2«* d f r i l  133-1, { p o l i t i c a l  A . ,  M a y  1871. N o . IBS.] [ P o li tic a l A . ,  J u n e  1872, N o. 407.1

F i r s t .—The British Commls- F i r s t .—The British Coronals- The two Political Agents ap-
siouers* Major Grant and Captain eionere, Major Grant and Captain pointed by the British Govern- 
Pemberb-n. under instructions from Pernbertoa, imder instructions from ineht, Major Grant anti Captain 
the Righ t Honourable the Governor the Bight Honourable the Governor Pemberton, and the two Agents 
General in Council, agree to make General in Council, agree to make debated by the King- ox Ava, 
over to the Woondouk Mahamen* over to the Woondouk (Under Sec- the Boyal Woondouk Mahit 
g'.an Raja and IVaradaugee Ni rotary), Malta Mongyau Baja, and Miugyan YaasaandTtiarliyaftwgyoe 
Iviyookvawtlioo, Commissioners ap» to Tsayedaugyee (Chief Writer of (Royal Scribe) Nay Mvo Kyuw- 
Tiuinlefi by the King of Ava, the Cour*;, NeToywriwxUvoo, Cotnrais- thoo, have mutually agreed that 
town; of Tnmmoo, K hum bat, sionerti appointed by the King of the towns and villages in the 
Surnjok and all other villages in Ava, all the villages in the Kubau Kaban "Valley, together with t he 
{.fck- Kubo Valley, the Uugock’ng valley, together with Tumoo, towns of Tamoo, Khainbat, nrn.
Hills and the strip of valley run- Kumpflfc, and the towns of Toaog- Thoung Thwat, including Abe 
ning * Atwoen their eastern foot amt wai ( a l m a  $umjok\ also the Uugatt Kngaw range of hills. Stud m  

the western bank of the Ningthee Hills aud the lands between those given over, a* also the land 
or Khvendwru Bivor, and the Khyeudwen Elver. situate between the two branches*of the Khyeendvveu river. I be ,,

S & r o n d .—The British Commit** tfeeoa ?.—Tho British Commis- two British Political Agents 
aloners will withdraw the Mnnee- abhors will withdraw the Manx- shall withdraw tht guards and 
poorec Thanims now stationed pore Thancuw? now Mafcionedwithia thannaha placed vv̂ tnr’ thhSA 
within this tract of country aud ibis tract of country, and make limits.

'



make <mx immediate possession of over immediate possession of it to The conditions under whjoh
it to the But*-nose Commissioners the Burmese <' jmnusaioners on these tracts shall bo mode over ,
cm curtain conditions. certain conditions. to the two Burmese Agents are

as follows *•— ; > 1til !- P/ I " >. '' ' ■
The conditions arc that T h i r d .—The conditions are (hat And the two Burmese Agents- , :

they will agree to the boundaries the) will agree to the boundaries agreeing* to the following :
vbiVh may be pointed out to the m which mavhe pointed out to them terms:—
l»y the British Commissioners, and by the British Commissioners, and lsf. That they take dyer the 
will respect and refrain from any will respect and refrain from any tract of country as pointed out 
mtotfemiee, direct or indirect, interference, direct or indirect, by the two .British Political 

4» with the people residing on the with the people residing on the Agents.
Muocopooree side of those bound- M mi i pore side of those boundaries. 2 n # ,  Thar the villagers living 
pries, F o u r t h .—The boundaries are as on tl." Cass ay side h hall not be

Jvat WA.« The boundaries arc as follows:— interfered with, or in anyway
follow 1. The eastern foot of the chain molested,

lid. The eastern loot of the of mountain h which rise inline- On these terms (the above 
chain of mountains which rise ira- diately from the western side of the towns and villages) shall be 
mediately from the western side of plain of the Kuban Valley. To the made over, 
the plain of the Rub» Valley, west of this line the village of The boundaries to ho as fol- 
Within this line Is included Morph Merck and all Its lands are to be- lows:-—
and all the Country to the west- long to Alunipore. The eastern foot of the range
wmd of it. 2. On the south a line extend- of hills immediately on the west

jJV 2 n d .  On the south, a lino, fix- log from the eastern foot of the border of the land situate on tha
tending from the eastern foot of same bills at the point where the western fide of the Kabaw 
the same bills at the point where river called l»y the Barmans Nauea- Valley, shall be fired as the 
M v  river, called by the Burmabs, weng, and by the Mnnipooriee, boundary.
Nunaaweng, and by the Munee- Numsailot enters the plains, up Beyond the above boundary on 
pooreos, Numsaeelnng, enters the to its sources and across the hills the west is the village of Molar* 
plain up to its sources, and across due west to the Naukailiee Kay- Ac., &«., which is to belong to 
the hills due west down to the Rathe oung ( a l i a s  Muni pore river.) Muuipore,
Khyoung (Muneepooree River). 3. On the north, the line of The boundary on the sou tit

3r d .  On the north, the tine of boundary will begin, ut the foot of shall be fixed by a line extending 
boundary w»'l begin nt the foot of the *ame hills at the northern from the eastern foot of the 
the same hills at the northern ex- extremity of the Kuban Valley, ami same hills at a point where the 
tremity of the Rube valley and pass dno north tip to the first range river, called by the Burmese,

> pass due north np to the first of hills, east of that upon which Nansaweng, and by the Casways,
ranee of lulls, eas t of that upon stands the villages of Tawaitara. Nan Ttsim Lan, enters the plain 
which stand the villages of JSToangbyof, and Noauhara, now and along its course down to the 
Choeetar, Nomtgbree, Noonghur, of tributary to Munipore. month of the said river, and from
the tribe called by the Muuoe- F i f t h , . — The Burmese Commis- thence duo west as far as the 
poorees LcohooppH, and by the ei oners hereby promwio that they Nan Katbey Chcrang or Crook.
Btirmabo favgweuooung, now tribu- will give orders to the Burmese The boundary on the north 
tary to Muueepoor. officers, who will remain in charge shall begin from the eastern foot

‘% t% . The Burmese Commission- ol’ the territory now made o ver to of the same range of hills and
|c« ere hereby promise that they wil.1 them, not in any way to interfere run along to (he end of tha

give orders to tie Burmese officers, with the Khyens or other tahabi- Kabaw Valley, and from tfumeo 
who will remain in charge of the toots living on the Munipore aide due north as far as a hill which
territory now made over to them, of the line*! of boundary above dett- is situate m  the eastern tide of
net iti any way to interfere with cribed, and he British Commis- the range of Cassay hills, on
the Kliyens or other Inhabitants sinners al- u promise that the which stand the villages of Tswa-
living *oti the Mmi'flpoor side of Mumpoorfc* hall he ordered not tard, Hnaubyee, and Moamhara 
the lines of boundary above <Je»- ?u any way to interfere with the belonging to Munipore,

t ors’ i. and the British Commis- Khyens or other inhabitant* of The two Burmese Agents do 
kuj - vs also promise that the any description living on the hereby promise to issue orders 
Miuioepoorees shall be ordered not Burma side of the boundaries now to the officers, who shall be left 
fn any way to interfere with the fixed* in charge of the territory now
Rliyeus or other inhabitants of any made over, not in any way to

.i: description living on the Burma disturb or molest any people
side of tlu boundaries now fixed. (Khyneon or otherwise) who live

Seal. F. 3 .  OutfT, M a j o r .  on the Ca»«ay iml the twoKnglish Political Agents promise . j
---- - that orders will be issued to the . Ajw

B  #»;a,L | F. J. Gaurt, M a j o r .  effect tb*t K!,yo<w, who liv'J ".f;----- -  beyond the eastern boundary
Bfjpfe . I----- j j above described, shall not bci in- w f |

; Seal. | Ii, B. FsuBBatoX, C a p * .  terfered with or molested by the 't
SliflV' : -------  i------ 1 Cassayn.Signed in a temporary shed

Seal. ■ R, B. Psmbkbtox', C a p t . ,  erected for the purpose, on a und
L__ ! - O o m m r #. Wooitpouk Maha Urxgku bank west o f Nat Kj&fi OungRajah, Alyay on the 15th Waning Moon »

of By at ho 1195,

t Sanmwstil Ghiut, Niugthee
Sliver, vib January 180*. t J i W l w m  N*KXOO«*BtBOO.

61med. West of Katkwou on 
9tb January 183*.
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By the following, agreement, dated 25th January 1884, Manipur
„ .. , „ , , was granted 500 Sieoa rupeesCompensation to Manipur for the lot! of ,, y Kthe Kubo Valley. monthly as compensation.tor tne loss

of territory {l ) thus involved:—•
Major Grant and Captain Pemberton under instructions from the Eight Honour­

able the Governor General in Council having made over the Kubo Valley to the IfUipn.ose 
Commissioners deputed from Ava are authorized to state —

First.—That it is the intention of the Supreme Government to grant, a monthly . Vi 
fi y y . stipend of five hundred Sicca rupees to the Baja of Manipur, to commence from the ninth

day of January one thousand eight hundred and thirty Jour, the date at which tha 
transfer of Knbo took place as shown in the agreement mutually signed by the British 

"yl, i ■ and Burmese Commissioners.
SeeowJ.- - I t  is to be distinctly understood that should any circumstances hereaftor 

arise by which the,portion of territory lately made over-to Ava again reverts to Manipur, CiV; 
, the allowance now granted by the British Government will cease from, the date of such ■■■ V

f lu ’1 reversion. ■
After the cession of the Kubo Valley to Burma disputes wore 

constant, though, in a letter dated 17th November 1840, the Politic,'! 1 
Agent, Manipur, statedf8) that up to that time the peace of the frontier 
had been preserved without a reference to the Court of Ava or to the 
Government of India. The Resident at Ava, in 1884, said that the 

V; v death of Gumbheer Sing had removed all feelings of personal resent-.
1 {' raent from the minds of the King and Court of Ava. From this time
M,1 correspondence was carried on between the .Political Agent and th«

Burmese local authorities, cases then arising with Burmese traders in 
Manipur being decided by the Political Agent. Dr. Dillon visited ■ 

vvv Sumjok in 1868.(*) He was received with much attention and kindness j]
by the Rajah,who provided houses and food for his attendants, and 
spoke gratefully or the support he gave them. Dr. Di]lon,s camp was 
besieged by claimants for medical relief. In' 1868 Dr. Brown said that 
disputes between the Manipuris and residents on the Burmese frontier 
were not then very frequent, and were mostly caused by mutual cattle 

r, , and pony stealing. In April 1869, on the invitation of the Rajah of
Sumjok, he paid a friendly vtait to the Kubo Valley. The Rajah ■■■■■' 
told Dr. Brown that be intended writing to the King of Burma to say 
bow much he was pleased with the visit.

In 1848 the Burmese complained of aggressions by the hill village
of Loohoopa, situated in Manipur

4S#rfiSn?2S£!Zr* “* “ to;) T f a v i i w e w ^ ,
been reached by Manipuris, and 

before it could be reached several others would have to be subdued.
The Burmese authorities, knowing this, affected a doubt whether the 
village was in Manipur or Burmese territory, and stated their desire, .i. r

(*) Secret Consultation, 21th April 1834, Ho. 12.
p ) Political Consultation, 2Stb December 1840, No. 73.
(*) Political Proceedings (India), November 1863, Ho. 8.

Political Proceedings (India), September 1868, No. 359,
(*) Foreign Consultation, 31st January 1861, No. 120.
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should the village be declared not in Manipur territory, to punish it 
themselves. Colonel McCulloch said that owing to the difficulties 
which would attend the reduction of the village, the Burmese probably 
thought that it would be disowned by Manipur, and he immediately 
declared it to he in Manipur territory. In February 1,84*9 a Manipur *’a
force went against the village and reduced it to subjection.

In 1869, a village called Mokoo, inhabited by Burmese, but on the 
,, , ,, . .„ .. , Manipur side of the boundary, was

forcibly entered by an armed party 
of Burmese and the wife and live children of a man named Wonkow- 
men carried ofl'.(') On the demand of the Political Agent, the Thoogvee 
of Turn moo ordered the family to be restored. The matter was also 
referred to the Burmese Government, and the Prime Minister readily 
acceded to. the request of the Political Agent at Mandalay to obtain 
all possible information about the raid and take such action as justice 
demanded. After receiving reports from the frontier officials, the 
Minister replied that, on the issue of a Royal order to apprehend 
dacoits who had attacked a Chinese trader, Wonkowroen absconded and 
took up his residence in the Mogoung forests, and, on being sent for, 
again absconded. His wife and children were thereupon taken and 
brought before the local Court j while there, the Political Ageut at 
Manipur demanded their restoration, and they were given up. In 
forwarding the Minister’s letter the Chief Commissioner, British 
Burma, remarked that the proceedings of the Burmese officials in 
seizing the family and property of a man charged with a criminal 
offence was quite In accordance with Burmese usage. He, however, 
said there was reason to believe that the Burmese who committed the 
raid were ignorant of the fact that the persons arrested were not 
subjects of Burma, but of Manipur, as the village was situated very 
near the boundary line, and also very near a Burmese frontier garrison. 
Considering this, and the fact of the individuals having been given 
up when their surrender was demanded by the Political Agent at 
Manipur, the matter was allowed to drop.(*)

In a letter dated 21st January 1871 Dr. Brown informed the Woon 1
of Gendat that the inhabitants of ; Ai

Allreodl raid on the Manipur village of the v il | o{ Nat-tseng-nga, in
a - ng-nga. Manipur territory, 50 in number,

| , had been forcibly carried off by Burmese and the village destroyed. 11§ |
; Before reporting the matter, he asked the Woon to hold an investiga- 

turn,. The Woon’s reply, which was received by General Nutliall nearly 
three months after, raised the question whether the village was within 
Burma or Manipur territory. The Woon asserted that it belonged to 
Burma, that the inhabitants left it of their own accord, because the 
superior of the village had oppressed them, and that they had stated

| |  (*) Political Proceedings (India), July 1870, Nos. 240-11.
<J) Political Proceedings (India), March 1S71, No*. 587-88.
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that they did ndt wish to live at Nat-tseng-aga, He at the same tune, 
stated that tw o other villages, Mokoo and Narnwealgong, were m  
Burmese territory.

General Nuthall proceeded to the frontier in April 1871 in order
to ascertain on which side or the 

Goueral 'N'uthall's visit to the frontier in boundary line these villages really 
1871 in connection with the boundary , He took the AyapOprel Major
quwt,?n‘ (Manipur Foreign Minister) with

him in order to come to an understanding with the VI oon of Geridat 
regarding some unsettled complaints of. plunder and outrage which had. 
been made by Manipur^*) The Government of India approved his having 
proceeded to the frontier, but directed him to coniine hi rased to 
particular duties for which he went, and to refrain from raising* ar»y 
general question of boundary between Manipur and Bimna wdr. M  
specific instructions from the Government of India. The result o '
General Nuthall’s investigation proved that Nat-tseug-nga and M okoo  
were both within Manipur territory.' General Nuthall did not, however, 
meet with a proper reception when he went to the frontier. Altboug.i 
he informed the Geudat. Wood by letter that he was going to proceed to 
the frontier, and invited that official to meet him, yet when he arrived 
at the encampment about a mile from. Tunmioo, none of the authorities 
came to welcome the party; on the contrary, aversion, if not actual 
hostility, was shown them. A musket was fired off near the encampment, 
which, General Nuthall said, might appear trivial,, hut its significance 
was well known to the Burmese as also to the Mawpuris, who at once .4 
noticed it. A thannah had also been constructed on ground that hwl 
always been deemed Manipur territory, and the guard turned out aimed 
and attempted to stop the party. The Tset Kai. (Burmese, Nat 1 ye 
Judge) had. been deputed by the Geudat W ood to meet General N annul.
When lie arri ved at Tamm00 he requested General Nuthall to go to !' > ■•
This being an undue assumption of rank on the part of the Isot Kai, 
General Nuthall declined to do so. The next day the Tset fLr. asked 
him to avail himself of some huts built for the reception or the party 
anil he would meet him there. General Nuthall replied that it they 
really wished his party to occupy the huts, they should have asked them ■ 
to do so before they constructed huts for themselves, that he had no 
intention, of moving for the Tset Kai/s convenience, and that it he 
wished to see him he would have to come to where he was. General 
Niitliall did not really want to see him, as he considered that a reference ;| 
to Government would be necessary. l ie  accordingly returned to Mam- 
pur without seeing either the Tset Kai or the W oon. He,.however,
informed the Woou by letter that the Villages were in Manipur tern-
tory. He also informed him about the Tset Kai's conduct, tor which «  
the Woo 11 apologised.

( l ) Politic:!.! Proceedings (India), May 1871, Nos. 161-59
Political Proceedings (lu d iu ), J  nne 1872, b o s .  884-413, „/
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In the first edition of Aitehison's Treaties the boundary between 
Manipur and the Kubo Valley is described as follows 1 he eastern 
part of the chain o' mountains which rise unmediately from tht we.-t 
side of the Kubo Valley.'’ General Netball pointed out that tins was 
probably a misprint as it is defined in the Original Burmese as the 
eastern‘ foot,” &c. General Nuthall considered it not improbable that 
the Burmese Government had obtained possession of our tKmslafaon of 
the Treaty, and bad thus taken the opportunity of asserting its claim 
to Moltoo/ Nat-tseng-nga, and Namweeloong. [The misprint has bee 
corrected in the revised edition oi the Ireaties.J

There is a erreat public road, much frequented by both Manipnns 
and Burmese, which runs parallel to, and at the foot, of, the ^ u’’l"g  
hills. It: is called the “ Lan-ma-dan or Royal road, and was con­
structed so many years ago that the inhabitants of the valley can give 
no account of its origin. General Nutball said tins road seemed to have 
been recognized by both Governments as thy established boundary, and 
be could'find no trace of a defined boundary other than this road. He 
thought that Captain Pemberton must have cleared the jungle and 
opened out this line. The road is, however, shown on Captain lumber 
ton’s map to be well in Burmese territory, and to have been m existence 
when the boundary was laid down.

The following remarks were made by the Government of 1 ndia on 
General NuthalFs reports

As wards the boundary itself, His Excellency in Council considers that there can 
be no reasonable doubt on the subject. It is quite clear from the report ol t-wtain 
Pemberton the officer deputed, in 1834 to demarcate the boundary, that Manipur territory 
extends to the foot of the eastern slope of the Muring lulls ard not to any highway such 
as that, mentioned in your letter. The boundary is, indeed, clearly laid down m Captain
Pemberton’s map of Manipur, copy of which is doubtless m your possession. It not, a 
com will b fsent from this office. As regards, then, the action of the Burmese m the 
viJLes of Nga-tsenga and Mokoo, the issue turns on the easily ascertainable fact whether 
Z y  are ou the slope of the hili or in the plain, and this I am to request that you wall at 
a convenient opportunity ascertain and report to this Office.

As General Nuthall did not possess a copy of Captain Pemberton’s 
map he was' furnished with one. A second copy was also sent for the 
us© of the Maharajah. General Nuthtil) was the same time told that 
any deviation from the boundary as laid down by Captain Pemberton 
could not be countenanced by the Government of India.

In accordance with the instructions quoted in the foregoing para­
graph, Colonel Mowbray Thomson, 

Colonel Mowbray Thomson’s visit to tbs WJ10 fold been appointed Officiating 
frontier in Connection with the bound- p>0]jtical Agent, proceeded to the 
ary question. frontier in November 1872 to settle

the disputed portion of the boundary and other matters in dispute 
between Manipur and Burma. The Burmese Government had been 
communicated with and appointed an official to meet Colonel Thomson 
on the frontier. Colonel Thomson sent timely information of his com­
ing in English and Burmese, and informed the authorities that he was



<SL
to commence bis enquiries from the village o£ "Weetoop. (*) When lie 
arrived at the village of Satumkhoorum, one march front Weotoop, he 
sent information to the Burmese authorities at Weetoop that he had 
arrived, and was prepared to meet the officer deputed by the Burmese 
Government. His advance party preceded him to build huts, and they 
had just commenced building when a shot was fired at them, by a 
villager of Weetoop. The huts were, however, .constructed. Colonel 
Thomson remarked that the Burmese could have no excuse for this 
outrage as they knew full well that his visit was a friendly one. They 
afterwards told some of his party that it was done by a child. Not­
withstanding his having sent early information of his coming no one 
was there to meet him. The Gendat Woon afterwards arrived. He 
begged that the matter might be deferred till they met. the Tsauba of 
Sumjok at Mongsa, to which Colonel Thomson agreed. The Nurathow 
Thamiah was the only point of dispute raised by the Burmese officials, 
(No complaint regarding this than hah had been forwarded to the Gov­
ernment of India.) This thamiah Colonel Thomson stated was con­
siderably within the Manipur boundary. Colonel Thomson allowed the 
Manipur official to ask why the people of the village of Nat-tsehg-nga 
had not been returned, but the Burmese official said he was only 
authorised to speak on the subject of the Numthow Thamiah, and 
declined to confer on any other subject. They had no actual complaint 
regarding the boundary; what they required was that the Treaty of 
IsS-t should-be adhered to. They pointed out to Colonel Thomson 
two villages Tlmngboong and Monggong, to the south-west of Tummo, 
which they said had paid tribute to them for the previous three years. 
These villages do not now occupy the same sites shown in Pemberton’s 
map. Colonel Thomson went to the villages and ascertained personally 
that they had never paid tribute to Burma. He also visited Mokoo 
and Nat-tseng-nga and satisfied himself that they belong to Manipur.

With his report Colonel Thomson forwarded a map showing Cap­
tain Pemberton's boundary as he proposed that it should be considered 
to exist.(2) It was a line drawn generally from village to village, 
along the foot of the hills. Colonel Thomson was asked whether the 
line described by him did or did not correspond with Captain Pember­
ton's line, and he was requested to report whether Captain Pemberton’s 
line could be identified. He was told that—

If Pemberton’s line can be identified, it must b#maintained as the boundary. If 
it cannot, His Excellency in Council is of opinion that next cold season you and the Poli­
tical Agent at Mandalay, if the King of Hurmah will place the matter in his hands, 
otherwise a Burmese official, should moot and, making use of Captain Pemberton’s map on

V' '  ' " - ’*”    ' ’ ' ** .......  * ~ " ' 'd'. '
( ’) Political Proceedings (India),. January 1873, Nos. 424-430.
(*) Political Proceedings (India), January 1873, No. 428.

Political Proceedings (India), March .1873, Nos. 804-95.
Political Proceedings (India), May 1873, No. 15 i.
Political Proceedings (India.), November 1873, Nos. 2,5-25.
Political Proceedings (India), October 1874, Nos. 18-20.
Political proceedings (India), March 1876, Nos. 536-42.
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the beat data, available, ascertain what is the real boundary, note the villaiws on either 
side ol it, and take such compass bearings, &c., as will admit of recognition hereafter 
in the event of dispute.

Colonel Thomson replied that ho could not strictly identify Pemberton’s 
line, and that the line he suggested was the nearest approximation to 
it which he could define. He proposed that a professional surveyor 
might be made available to accompany him and the Manipur and 
Burmese officials during the season Id78-74, when the whole of the 
Manipur-Kubo boundary could be properly demarcated. In a letter 
dated 28th March 1873 the Political Agent was told that, in consider­
ation of the occurrences on the Naga-Manipur boundary (paras, 30-35), 
the Government of India was not disposed to make a reference to 
Burma on the subject till the Manipur Durbar placed the settlement 
of the boundary iu the Political Agent’s hands without reservation. 
When the Durbar consented to this, the Government of India would 
take steps for the deputation of the Political Agent at Mandalay or of 
some one nominated by the King of Burma to settle the frontier in 
company with the Political Agent. The Chief Commissioner, British 
Burma, was however of opinion that under no circumstances should the 
Political Agent himself leave Mandalay for that duty. The Maharajah 
of Manipur did not reply to the Political Agent's letter till sir. months 
after, when Dr. Brown had relieved Colonel Thomson. He agreed to 
place the matter unreservedly in the Political Agent’s hands for settle­
ment. On the Burmese Government being then asked to depute an 
officer for the purpose of settling the boundary, they replied that the 
boundary was satisfactory and that the appointment of a deputation for 
the purpose of demarcating it was. deprecated. On this the Chief 
Commissioner, British lyirina, suggested that unless the matter was 
considered very important in Manipur, it should not be pressed. The 
Manipur Durbar was then consulted, and they agreed to accept what 
had long been recognized on either side as Pemberton’s line. The Poli­
tical Agent remarked that the boundary had only been called in ques­
tion during the previous few years, and that the Burmese had with­
drawn the thannah they had established on the Manipur side and aban­
doned their claim to the villages. He also remarked that the line pro­
posed by Colonel Thomson, which seemed intended to run straight 
nearly from village to village, and cut out an old established Manipur 
thannah named Moreh, was strongly objected to by Manipur, as it 
would deprive these villagers of almost all the land they cultivated- 
I)r. Brown mentioned another objection, viz., that bringing the Bur­
mese line close up to these villages would be a strong temptation to 

1 interference. He proposed that the old line, with the exception of a 
portion he had altered in a map sent, should be adhered to as marked. 
On the matter being referred to the Burmese Government, they said 
they wished to adhere, without any modification, to the Treaty of 1833 
laying down the boundary. The boundary question was thereupon 
dropped.
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The messengers who brought the letter to Manipur from the Woon.
Alleged raid by Manipur Nagaa on the regarding' the village

Burmese village of Beetoop, of Nat-tseng-nga (page 187 above)
brought a second letter to the Poli­

tical Agent, in which the Woon complained that Manipur Nagas of the 
village of Hmautsem, “ assisted by ten. Nagas of the mountain range,” 
had attacked and burned the Burmese village of Beefc©op,(*) killing two 
men and 26 buffaloes, and carrying off twelve men, women and child­
ren, They destroyed all the property in the village by tire, including 
400 baskets of rice; and took away 200 baskets of rice with them,
The Woon said that on the matter being investigated the Hmautsem 
Nagas confessed that it was done by them, arid he requested, the Poli­
tical, Agent to try and make them deliver up the villagers and property.
The Maharajah of Manipur assured General Nuthall that the village of 
Hmautsem was far to the south (it is not marked on Pemberton's map) 
and had not been brought under the control of Manipur. When 
General Nuthall proceeded to the frontier in April 187.1 in connection 
with the boundary, be intended to make enquiries regarding the attack, 
but no further action in the matter was reported to the Government of 

. India.
In July 1872 the Political Agent at Manipur reported thatadeput- 

Complaints by the Burmese against" ation had arrived there from Manda- 
Manipur. Burmese Government asked lay with a letter from the \Vooli­
te  correspond through this Resident at shiudan Myngee, and had requested 
S t r ^ 7 “ P him to enquire into and settle cer­

tain matters of dispute between 
Manipur and Burma. They were not furnished with any authority 
for their visit by the Political Agent at Mandalay, but Colonel Thom- ,
son, the Political Agent at Manipur, fearing that Manipur interests 
might suffer by sending them away, took up the questions.

The first dispute was that about ten years previous(9) a man and 
his wife, residents of Sum jok, when going from Manipur were murdered 
near the Lokstow River in Manipur territory, and no steps were taken 
by the authorities in the matter. In reply to this the Manipur authori­
ties asserted that the murders alluded to, as also of two Manipnris, 
were committed by their baggage coolie, that enquiry was instituted at 
the time, and that the perpetrator was brought to justice. The second 
dispute was that the Manipur thannah, which had been at Oehanpok, 
was removed three years previously about four miles towards Burma, 
that it was requested at the time that it might be withdrawn to its 
original site, but as no steps had been taken for its removal, the request 
was again made. In reply to this Colonel Thomson said that he was
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to visit title boundary during the ensuing cold weather, and he would 
then settle the dispute. The third dispute was that some Nagas from 
Manipur territory had attacked the village of Mowlong, near Sumjok, 
and killed and carried off ten persons, and a, considerable amount of 
property , Rs. 800 ,|eing paid for the release of the captives. They said 
the Maui our authorities took no notice of the matter. The Manipur 
authorities asserted that they never heard of it before, and the deputation, 
appeared satisfied with this reply. The fourth dispute was regarding 
twelve muskets which were stolen by Burmese from the Manipur thannah 
of Montom in 1869, but which could not be recovered.( ’) This theft 
was admitted by the Rajah of Sumjok at the time it occurred; as he 
could not recover the muskets, he was prepared to give compensation for 
them. The deputation asked the Manipur Durbar whether they would 
accept twelve ot her muskets or double the value of those stolen. The pro­
posals were not accepted. Colonel Thomson.' told them that the Maharajah 
could, accept of no other guns or even double the value of those stolen.
The fifth dispute was regarding a Manipur sepoy's wife said to have been 
seduced and carried off, together with her son. The deputation brought 
the woman, who was examined by Colonel Thomson, She stated that 
she went of her own accord and lived with a man in Sumjok and was 
not willing to join her husband again. Colonel Thomson suggested to 
the deputation that damages to the extent of Rs. 120 should be paid 
to her husband and his child left with him. To this they willingly 
agreed, and the money was paid at once.

The Political Agent at Mandalay was requested (2) to inform the 
Burmese Government of what had taken place, and to add that it would 
be better, and lead to the speedier and more satisfactory settlement of 
such matters if they were referred through him instead of direct to the 
Manipur Durbar.

In February 1875 the Rajah of Sumjok complained to the Political
Agent, Manipur, that a party of 

Alleged raid by Manipur Kongjais on the Kongjai Kookies belonging to that 
Hurntesa village of Nampee. state had attacked the village of

Nam pee, situated within Burmese territory, and killed 45 men, women, 
and children. The village of Nampee is not marked on Pember­
ton’s map. but is situated near the northern boundary of tbe Kubo 
Valley. ' :

According to the Manipur authorities, the Ayapoorel (Manipur 
official detailed for matters connected with Burma) had been recently 
appointed, and went to the Burmese frontier for the purpose of making 
himself acquainted with bis duties. While there some dispute occurred 
between his men and the inhabitants of some villages situated in the 
Tankhool Naga Hills in Manipur territory. While the dispute was
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under settlement, the inhabitants of one village, in which the Manipuris 
had halted, set upon them during the night and killed eleven Manipuris 
and one Kookie, This lead to an expedition of 1 5 0 Manipuri sepoys 
and 700 Hill Kookies being sent to punish the offending village. They 
assembled at the Kongal Thannah, from whence they proceeded and 

. destroyed the offending village, killing nine men, and then returned to 
the thannah.

When the Burmese complaint was received the Political Agent 
was absent on duty in Caehar. The man who brought t he letter, by 
name Tammoo Seajah, was said to be acquainted with the ease, as lie 
was at the Kongal Thannah when the attack on Narapee was said to 
have occurred. He waited in Manipur till Dr. Brown’s return, who 
examined him. He said that the Manipur force returned to the Kongal 
Thannah on. the 1st February, and that he received information on the 
3rd that Nampeo had been attacked on the night of the 2nd. He also 
said that the Ay a poore) denied the possibility of his Kookies having 
committed the raid, but refused to investigate the matter, saying that 
the raid, if committed, must have been done by Nagas or others in 
Burmese territory. None of the Kongjais were seen between the 
Kongal Thannah and Nainpee, but they were accused because the 
Burmese considered that no other party could have committed the 
raid.

On first receipt of the .Burmese complaint the matter looked so 
suspicious that. Hr. Brown asked the Maharajah to suspend the 
Ayapoorel, pending the result of an enquiry on the spot. He at the 
same time asked that arrangements might be made for coolies, and a 
head official appointed to assist in the enquiry. The Maharajah replied 
that he considered the suspension of the Ayapoorel before an enquiry 
had been made to be unjustifiable; and he threw difficulties in the way 
of the enquiry by saying that the greater part of the Nagas had, gone 
with the Kamhow force (paragraph 82). and that those who came with 
Dr. Brown from Caehar had gone to their hills and were not then lit to 
be called again. Dr. Brown by this time having made fuller enquiries, 
thought that the Manipur case looked favourable, and the only way 
lie could account for their obstructiveness was that they dreaded an 
investigation into the original expedition. He thought that some 
oppressive measures on their part had led to the attack and murder of 
the Manipuris and Kookies. II however afterwards acquitted the 
Maharajah of any wish to interfere with the investigation, and said he 
thought he only wished for delay in order to obtain the services of 
Tangal Major, who was with the Kamhow expedition. The matter of 
the coolies having been arranged, Or. Brown proceeded to the village 
of Nampee, accompanied by the Ayapoorel. He had previously written 
to the Rajah of Sumjok, asking him to depute an official of standing from 
the Burmese side to assist in the investigation; but he said he would 
prefer that the Rajah himself would find it convenient to meet him, 
instead of any other official.



Dr. Brown reached the frontier on the 1st April, but as nothing'
had been heard of the Rajah of 

Br. Brown's visit to the frontier to in- g Um jok, he sent off a short note to 
vcstigato the case. him intimating his arrival.(‘) The

next morning a Burmese arrived in camp, who said he had heard that 
the Rajah intended meeting the Political Agent, but was delayed, as his 
mother was siek. Late the same night a short note was received from 
the Rajah, saying he could not come as his head priest had just died, but 
that he would send an official of standing as soon as possible. A moot­
ing had been arranged to take place at Mongsa, a short distance from 
where Dr. Brown had encamped, and he went there on the 3rd. He 
found no preparations being made for the reception of any one in the 
village, and no official of any kind to afford information; he therefore 
returned to his standing camp the following evening, where he had left 
the Manipur party. None of the people of Mongsa had heard any­
thing about the raid, except through the Burmese messenger who had 
passed through their village, and as the case at this stage appeared likely 
to break down and prove a false charge altogether, Dr. Brown reinstated 
the Ayapoorel. A Burmese official, said to be a nephew of the Rajah of 
Sumjok, arrived at Mongsa on the evening of the 4th, and met Dr. 
Brown at his camp the next morning. The matter was then gone into, 
with the result of further weakening the Burmese case. The raid 
having been committed on the evening of the 2nd, and the whole of 
the Manipur party having returned to the capital on the 5th, it was 
admitted that, if the dates given by the Burmese and Manipuris were 
correct, it would have been impossible for the Manipur Kongjais to have 
committed the raid, as the journey from Nampee to the Manipur capital 
could not possibly lie done under four days. Dr. Brown, however, in 
his report to Government, said there was no doubt the Kongjais with 
the Manipur force could have committed the raid, if a raid had been 
committed, the distance between the Konga! Thannah and Nampee 
being much less than he was at first led to believe. The Burmese 
admitted that no one had seen Kongjais going to or coming from 
Nampee, and that Kongjais were in the habit of trading in numbers in 
the Kubo Valley. They therefore retracted what they had positively 
maintained, viz., that if Kongjais had committed the raid, it could only 
have been done by those with the Manipur force. They, however, 
insisted that a raid had been committed as alleged, and Dr. Brown 
proceeded to the village, the Burmese having pledged themselves to 
show the remains of the 45 persons killed. When Dr. Brown arrived 
at the village, there was no sign that it had been attacked at all. The 
houses were all intact, the headman of this village failed to produce the 
remains of the persons said to have been killed, and the marks on doors 
said to have been produced by bullets were found, with one exception, 
which was even doubtful, to have been cut with some instrument. 
Dr. Brown considered that the evidence led to one of two conclusions,— 
the first, and by far the strongest, was that the case was an entirely
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false and malicious one without foundation j the second, that if it 
contained any element of truth, it had been much exaggerated, and the 
.Manipur State accused without a shadow of proof to support the accusa­
tion. The only explanation he could offer was that the complaint had 
been intended as a set-off against former Manipur ones, it being common 
to both States to have pet grievances on cither side to which they 
constantly refer,, and the Manipuris had then by far the heaviest list 
against Burma.

Dr. Brown informed the Rajah of Sumjofe and the Maharajah of 
Manipur of the result of the enquiry. He told the Maharajah of 
Manipur that, although, he thought it highly improbable that the 
Manipur Kongjais had committed any raid, still’there was an element 
of suspicion in the case, as they had opportunity, being encamped 
so far from the Kongal Thammh where the Manipur force was, 
that no personal control by the Manipur officers was possible. He 
therefore asked, the Maharajah, in all eases of the employment of 
armed Kongjais with Manipur troops, to direct a sufficient watch 
to be kept over them, so as to render the, occurrence of sueh 
complaints impossible. He also asked the Maharajah, whenever he had 
occasion to use troops near the Burmese frontier, to intimate the fact to 
the nearest Burmese official where the force was to assemble, and its 
objects.

On 14th May, the Chief Commissioner, British Burma, reported that 
the Burmese Government had complained to the Resident at Mandalay 
regarding the attack on Nampee and asked what settlement, would be 
effected. At this time Sir .Douglas Forsyth was about to proceed to 
Mandalay in connection with Western. Karennee affairs, and the Chief 
Commissioner was requested to furnish him with a copy of Dr. Brown's 
report, with an intimation that he was to make no allusion to the 
subject at Mandalay, but that if the Burmese Government referred to 
it, he should inform them of the result of the investigation, and say 
that the Government of India, were satisfied that there was no just 
cause of complaint against Manipur, The matter does not, however, 
appear to have been alluded to by the Burmese Government, for it is 
not mentioned in Sir Douglas Forsyth’s report.

The Kongal Thatmah is a Manipur outpost situated on the banks'
„ „ . , of the River Nummeah, which thereAttack by Burmese on the Manipur out- r, ti., v . i . u  •post of Kongal, 1,1 ms the boundsry between Manipur

and Burma, and is due north of the 
Kubo Valley. It was garrisoned by one Jemadar and SO sepoys. On 
the morning of the 14th December 1877 the thannah was attacked by 
about IDO Shan's, Burmese subjects, of the Kubo Valley. Eight 
Manipuris were killed and the guard-house burnt j1) On the morning 
of the attack the Jemadar had heard that a large party of Burmese were 
assembled in a village not far off, and-Sent four men to see if the report 
were true; a party had also been sent on other duty to the Kampang

J  W C  THE NORTH-RAST I'KOXTIMt OF BENGAL. ^

{’) Political Proceedings (Ind ia), May 1878, Nos. 107-28.



. ----------------------- ....._____ ,__ — «...— __ U--------------------

Thannah on the Manipur road ; and tlie Jemadar and three men had 
gone to superintend the erection of some huts about 200 yards distant 
from the stockade. Six men were thus only left in the stockade. One 
was on sentry outside, another was cooking, and the remaining four 
were inside. There was also a Nagu who had come to sell something. 
The sentry and three of the men inside were killed; the four men who 
had gone off to enquire regarding the reported assembly of Burmese 
were also found killed about 50 yards from the stockade. When 
attacked the four men inside the stockade kept up a fire on the Burmese 
till three of the four fell; the fourth man then climbed over the rear of 
the stockade and escaped into the jungle. The Burmese had also some 
less on their side, for the man who escaped reported that he saw two 
bodies being carried away by the attacking party.

On the outrage being reported, Colonel Johnstone, the Political 
Agent, proceeded at once to the Kongal Thannah to investigate 
the matter.(J) The result of his investigation left no doubt about 
the correctness of the report. The opinion of the people there was that 
the attack had been committed by the Sumjok Rajah with the permission, 
if not at the instigation, of the King of Burma, with the object of 
seeing how far they could go with Manipur j and that, in the event of 
the outrage being passed over without notice, it , was feared that it 
might only be the prelude to a more serious attack. In corroboration 
of this it was reported on good authority that the women and children 
of the Kubo Talley had ali been put across the Nihgthee River, and 
that the men were under arms. The news of the attack caused great 
excitement in Manipur. The Maharajah said that it was only owing to 
the presence of the Political Agent that the people remained quiet, 
livery one to the south of the capital had his bundle of clothes and 
parched rice ready to flee. Colonel Johnstone at first was inclined to 
think that the Manipuri interpretation of the cause of the attack was a 
pretty correct one. “ For many years past," he said, “ much ill-feeling 
has prevailed along the border, both parties, being dissatisfied with the 
boundary as at present defined, or rather 1 should say ill-defined, and it 
is quite possible that the Rajah of Sumjok, whose son has a very bad 
reputation, may have represented his supposed grievances at Mandalay, 
and been encouraged to insult the much-hated and despised Manipuvis.” 
Subsequently, however, he said he was inclined to lay the entire blame 
on the Rajah of Sumjok.

Since the attack was made the passes leading to Burma have been 
closed to all comers from thence except Burmese officials, but Burmese 
and others travelling from the west have been allowed to pass on, 
on the understanding that their safety could only be guaranteed as 
far as the Manipur frontier. Colonel Johnstone explained that this 
was done to prevent panics in Manipur, as the appearance of a few 
Burmese unescorted would have created great alarm.
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Before any information regarding the attack had readied the Resi­
dent at Mandalay, a letter was received from him forwarding a 
communication from the Burmese Minister for Foreign Affairs. C ) The 
Burmese Minister represented that the Rajah of Snmjok had complained 
that a body of Manipnri Khyens had made three attacks on the 
Burmese Kbyen village of Nampoe—the first in 1874-75, when oyer 
40 men were killed; the second in October-November 1877, when 20 
were killed; and the third in December 1877, when 30 were killed. 
The first of these alleged attacks was reported at the time it was said to 
have occurred, and the details of which art* given in paragraphs 1 1 6 4 1 , 
but this was the first mention of any raids by Manipur in 1877.

A copy of Colonel Johnstone’s report regarding the attack on the 
Kongal Thaniwh was sent to Colonel Duncan, Resident at Mandalay, 
and a copy of Colonel Duncan’s letter and enclosure regarding the 
alleged attacks on the village of Nam pee were sent to Colonel Johnstone. 
Colonel Duncan was instructed -'to-' request an explanation from the 
Burmese Government, and Colonel Johnstone was instructed to request 
a similar explanation from the Manipur Durbar, but; in doing so they 
were merely to state the facts of the eases and to make comments or 
reflections thereon themselves.

The Maharajah of Manipur denied all knowledge of any- attacks 
made on the village of Nampee.(») He remarked that the first charge 
bad been investigated by Dr. Brown and proved to be false, that he had 
heard nothing of the other two outrages, that no complaint had been 
made by the Rajah of Sumjok, and that it was usual in such eases 
for him to complain to the Manipur officers and to the Political 
Agent. Colonel Johnstone said he did not attach the slightest 
credence to the report. He believed, that the charge bad been got up 
simply as a set-off against the charge preferred by Manipur against 
Burma. When the Kongal outrage was first reported, he took some 
pains to ascertain if the tribes on the Manipur side of the boundary 
had been engaged in any attack on .Burmese territory, which might have 
led to the aggressive act, but could not find the least evidence to show 
that such had been the case. He pointed out how improbable the 
attacks were, and referred to Dr. Brown’s investigation into the alleged 
raid in. 1875. He remarked that, on Dr. Brown's investigation of the 
alleged attack in 1875, the headman put do wn the number of inhabitants 
of the village of Nampee as 21,* but assuming that he meant heads

* ('Extract from Dr. Urown’s report, of 1875.
‘f Asked (the headman of Nampee) : Hew many inhabitants were in the village 

before the raid ? Ho replied twenty-one. And after? fifteen. He seemed utterly 
unconscious of there being any discrepancy regarding the number killed, forty-five, 
and the number of original inhabitants.”

(*) Political Proceedings (India), May 1878, Nos. 110-12.
Political Proceedings (India), May 1878, Nos. 114-16.

(*) Political Proceedings (India), May 1878, Nos. 110-20,
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of households, and allowing- four or five to a house, the number of slain 
would he so out of proportion to the population as to render the case 
quite unique in tfaga warfare, and east, a grave doubt on the statement, 
even were there no other negative evidence to be brought forward.

In reply to the letter of the Resident at Mandalay asking- for an 
explanation, the Burmese Government sai l that they had received 
accounts from their officials on the Manipur .frontier which confirmed, 
the account given by the Political Agent, Manipur.(») They disavowed 
the conduct of their local officials, who, they said, had acted ^without 
orders, and they promised to call to Mandalay all those engagei in e 
affair, and make an investigation and punish the ofiemh.ts. 
Burmese Minister, however, in his letter complained that there being 
an insufficient disposition of ordnance and ammunition m Manipur for 
the purpose of effectually attacking Sumjok, 200 mannda of powder 
and 5,000 muskets had been sent for from Calcutta and preparation 
made ” He further complained that the Manipur guard at Mu-Ie 
Thantmh had been strengthened by 100 men, and that orders had been 
issued by the Maharajah and the PoUtwal ^ a t ,  w b iW ina  Burto 
from entering or leaving Manipur, in a letter dated 4th May 1878,
Colonel Duncan was told that the Governor General m Council was glad 
to recognise the friendly and well disposed character of the communi- 
cat- on made by the Burmese Government, but be was at the same time 
toldio w a t,h L  progress of die case carefully, and to eat.'ty  b.marlf 
that a thorough investigation was made into the conduct of the qumyo 
Rajah as promised. About this time the Government of India had 
supplied £  Maharajah of Manipur with 750 percussion muskets and. a 
quantity of ammunition on payment. The arms were given to replace 
the smooth-bore muskets supplied on the formation. ^
Levy in 1825, which were returned to the arsenal at fort William to m 
broken up; and the ammunition was supplied simply because the 
Maharajah’s stock was nearly exhausted. Uus being probably ic 
foundation of the Burmese rumour that the Bntish Government had 
supplied arms and ammunition to Manipur for the purpose of attacking 
the Rajah of Sumjok, the facts of the case were explained to the Resi­
dent in order to  prevent misunderstanding on the part of the Burmese.

On the 5th .fitly 1878 the Burmese Minister for Foreign Affairs 
informed the Resident that the Rajah of Sumjok had arrived at Mandalay 
and been examined regarding the attack on the Ron gal outpost. he 
Ttohh denied that his people attacked the thannah. He did not know for 
S  X  «  .»! L ' h e  h„d bearcl that wM Khyon. aUpked the 
stockade and killed the eight Mampuns He again repeated his chat e 
against Manipur, saying that Marnpuri Khyeiis “  frequently into
his villages and killed people, whereby he had lost over 100 men. In
forwarding this deposition the Minister asked the Resident to give the

(») Political Proceedings (India), May 1878, No. 121.
Political Proceeding- (India), May 3S78, No. I28- 
Political Proceedings (India), June 18,*. No W,am. K. W 
Political Proceedings (India), August 18/8, iNos -uo to M l.

-;*r< 1-: N O tltli -EAST FKOOTllGft ov



names and places of abode of. those who headed the attack, and they 
would be examined and punished, if found guilty. In a separate letter 
of 'the same date be asked the Resident for information as to the steps 
which had been taken regarding the enquiry into the attacks on the 
village of Nampee, and the:" punishment of the offenders. In tv con­
versation the Suli-Minister also informed Mr. Shaw that, as the Rajah of 
Sutnjok denied that it was his people who committed the assault on. 
the Kongu! Than nail, the proper course was to substantiate the charge 
by specific evidence, and that, unless this were done, no further investi­
gation could be made by the Burmese Government. Mr. Shaw 
remarked that it would be very difficult for ns to ascertain the names 
and residence of the culprits, as we could not prosecute an enquiry in 
Burmese territory, and that our request for an investigation had refer­
ence to ah attack the fact of which was admitted by the Burmese 
Government themselves ; it was therefore hoped that the Burmese 
Government would, whether the Rajah were implicated or not, make a 
full enquiry. It was urged by the Minister that the attack-.'having 
been denied by the Surajok Tsauba there was no reason for further 
enquiry; they nevertheless issued-orders to the frontier officials to make 
enquiry whether those who attacked the tbannah were Burmese or not.

In a letter dated 5th September 1878,(l ) Colonel Johnstone reported 
that he had again made very careful enquiries with the view of ascer­
taining whether there was any truth in the charges brought by Burma 
against Manipur, with the result that he was more than ever convinced 
that they were groundless. He was more confirmed in this opinion 
from a conversation he had in July 1878 with a .Burmese' official who 

. brought; a letter to him from the Poongree of Turn moo- and the W'oon 
of Gendat. This man requested that the witnesses in the Kongal case 
might be allowed to go to Turn moo with him to give evidence at the 
investigation, and Colonel Johnstone sent them together with two of 
the Maharajah’s officers. They left Manipur on ,14th July, and did not 
return till 4th September. They said they had been kept at Turamo 
waiting till the Rajah of Sumjok should return from Mandalay, and 
were sent back without any investigation having taken place. * They 
were told that a letter had been sent to the Resident at Mandalay, that 
the Sumjok Rajah denied having committed the offence, that there would 
be no investigation, and that Manipur had committed many outrages in 
Burma. The witnesses heard from the people.'of Tummoo that the 
Wundouk who had been charged with the investigation had taken the 
part of the Sumjok -Rajah. The Burmese explanation was that they 
issued orders regarding the investigation to the Wundouk in charge of 
the frontier province; he passed on the orders to the Governor of Tum­
moo, and informed the Manipur authorities by letter; meanwhile the 
Manipur party had returned, and the letter was not delivered. It also 
appeared from letters from the Burmese Minister to the Resident at

P) Political Proceedings (India), November 1878, No. 300.
Political Proceedings (India), November 1878, No. 306,
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Mandalay that the Manipur party arrived at Tummoo on the 26th July, 
and that after their arri val the Burmese frontier official wrote to Mandalay 
for instructions, and that the reply arrived too late. .The Burmese 
Government explained the matter to the Manipur Durbar, and asked 
that the men might be sent to Tummoo again, but that previous notice 
he given of their departure. Mr. Shaw also asked that he might be 
previously informed of the probable date of arrival in Burmese territory 
of the Manipur party. Colonel Johnstone was requested to bear this 
point in mind in sending the party again. He was, however, asked by 
the Government of India whether, in his opinion, the enquiries then 
made were sufficient to render the recurrence of similar outrages impro­
bable. It was said that if, owing to the delay which had already passed, 
no practical advantage was to he hoped for by pressing the investigation 
further, it would be desirable to advise the Manipur Durbar to drop the 
matter. Colonel Johnstone, however, could not recommend the adop­
tion of such a course. He felt sure it would lead to serious trouble in 
future. The Manipuris so distrust the Burmese that he did not think a 
peaceable state of affairs could be expected unless some reparation was 
made ; lie remarked that the Kongal outrage was the Culminating act of a 
long series of minor offences, and that the Manipuris considered that unless 
some punishment was awarded to the offenders, there would be no security 
for the future. Every dacoitv by the hill tribes was believed at 
Manipur to be instigated by the Burmese, and Colonel Johnstone had 
difficulty in persuading the Maharajah that this was not likely to be the 
case. Colonel Johnstone, however, suspected that there was a tendency 
on the part of the Sumjok people to encourage the Kookies on the 
Manipur border to give trouble, though the disposition was exaggerated.

The Manipuri witnesses we're Sent to Tummoo the second time on 
the 17th January 1879, a month’s previous notice having been given by 
the Political Agent.to the Resident at Mandalay. According to inform­
ation received by Colonel Johnstone a Court was convened for the 
investigation of the outrage, consisting of eight persons, among whom 
were a. son of the Wundouk, two sons of the Rajah of Sumjok, and ari 
officer of the Rajah of Sumjok.(!) The Manipur witnesses stated that 
two men who were brought before them were not the men whose names 
they gave, and Colonel Johnstone had heard some time before that it 
was intended tc substitute other people for the real offenders, in the 
hope that the witnesses might bo led to assert that they were the men 
that they had seen, when decisive proof to the contrary would have 
been brought to discredit their statements. The Poongree of i urnmoo 
also wrote to Colonel Johnstone regarding the investigation; he stated 
that besides the two men brought not being recognized by the Manipur 
witnesses, the two Sumjok officials denied the existence of the two 
other men named, and the witnesses were unable to point out their 
houses. The Poongree therefore suggested that it was desirable to 
settle the matter by a payment of Rs. 900. This Colonel Johnstone
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